

LUND UNIVERSITY

Biobased Combined Heat and Power Production in Sweden – Opportunities for and Challenges to Sustainability from the Plant Operator Perspective

Pettersson, Malin

2023

Document Version: Publisher's PDF, also known as Version of record

Link to publication

Citation for published version (APA):

Pettersson, M. (2023). Biobased Combined Heat and Power Production in Sweden – Opportunities for and Challenges to Sustainability from the Plant Operator Perspective (1 ed.). Miljö- och energisystem, LTH, Lunds universitet.

Total number of authors: 1

General rights

Unless other specific re-use rights are stated the following general rights apply:

Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights. • Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study

or research.

- You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
 You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal

Read more about Creative commons licenses: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/

Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

LUND UNIVERSITY

PO Box 117 221 00 Lund +46 46-222 00 00

Biobased Combined Heat and Power Production in Sweden – Opportunities for and Challenges to Sustainability

from the Plant Operator Perspective

MALIN PETTERSSON FACULTY OF ENGINEERING | LUND UNIVERSITY



Biobased Combined Heat and Power Production in Sweden

Biobased Combined Heat and Power Production in Sweden

- Opportunities for and Challenges to Sustainability from the Plant Operator Perspective

Malin Pettersson

Department of Technology and Society Faculty of Engineering

2023



DOCTORAL DISSERTATION

Doctoral dissertation for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy (PhD) at the Faculty of Engineering at Lund University to be publicly defended 2023-04-21 at 09.15 in V:A Hall, V-building, John Ericssons väg 1, Lund

> *Faculty opponent* Dr. Johanna Mossberg

Organization LUND UNIVERSITY	Document name Doctoral thesis			
John Ericssons väg 1 Lund, Sweden	Date of issue 2023-03-24			
Author	Sponsoring organization			
Malin Pettersson	Kraftringen Energi AB			
	Swedish Energy Agency			
Title and subtitle				
Biobased Combined Heat and Power Production in Sweden				

- Opportunities for and Challenges to Sustainability from the Plant Operator Perspective

Abstract

Although combined heat and power (CHP) production in Sweden is already largely decarbonised, this technology has further potential to alleviate pressing environmental concerns. Today, biobased CHP plants connected to district heating (DH) grids dominate the Swedish residential heating sector. The societal context in which CHP plants operate is, however, subject to continuous change. New aims and requirements concerning decarbonisation and resource efficiency are being discussed and implemented in the political arena to promote the shift towards a sustainable energy system. These include the cascading use of biomass, bioenergy carbon capture, support schemes for innovative investments, life-cycle-based climate performance regulations, and circularity demands. Such shifts affect the operation of CHP plants and can provide new opportunities and challenges that have not yet been investigated. Neither are the consequences fully understood in the scientific or political community. This thesis presents an investigation of the opportunities and challenges facing CHP plant operators within the context of a shift towards a sustainable energy system.

Issues of environmental relevance were investigated through a case study of a Swedish wood-fuelled CHP plant. The recycling of wood ash to forest soils after logging residue outtake is recommended to close the loop for forest nutrients and ensure forest production. However, co-incineration of waste wood and forest fuels in the Swedish DH sector was found to inhibit wood ash recycling, due to pollutants in the ash from waste wood. It was also found to be an overlooked challenge in the transition to a circular bioeconomy, where waste wood is utilised to produce energy. Other important issues in a circular bioeconomy are the efficient use of biomass and the production of highvalue biobased products. CHP plants are dependent on a stable heat demand to operate efficiently. The addition of a pyrolysis unit, a heat-demanding process, to produce liquid biofuels that could increase the uptime and open up an additional market for CHP plants as biorefineries was studied. Life-cycle analysis showed this to be technically feasible at the CHP plant studied, and to substantially improve the overall greenhouse gas (GHG) benefits. Negative GHG emissions have been deemed by the IPCC to be an important complement in achieving net zero GHG emissions. Biobased CHP plants can contribute to negative emissions through the implementation of carbon capture. However, these technologies are energy-demanding, and thus reduce the energy efficiency of the plant. It was shown that the carbon mitigation potential of installing equipment for carbon capture or liquid biofuel production was highly dependent on which energy sources compensate for the changes in the value chains, which is in turn dependent on the decarbonisation of the surrounding energy system. An important outcome of the work presented in this thesis is the identification of existing and emerging opportunities and challenges related to sustainability in biobased CHP plants, which can contribute to, or hamper, the fulfilment of environmental goals. The studies on these opportunities and challenges can prove valuable knowledge for other countries and regions that are planning to develop biobased CHP plants with DH grids. Successful navigation of these opportunities and challenges by policy makers and CHP plant stakeholders will be instrumental in ensuring a decarbonised and resource-efficient energy system.

Key words

District heating;Combined heat and power;Sustainability;Decarbonisation;Biobased economy

Classification system and/or index t	erms	
Supplementary bibliographical information		Language English
ISSN and key title ISRN LUTFD2/TFEM23/1045SE + (1- 65) ISSN 1102-3651		ISBN 978-91-8039-605-9 (electronic) 978-91-8039-604-2 (print)
Recipient's notes	Number of pages 65	Price
	Security classification	

I, the undersigned, being the copyright owner of the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation, hereby grant to all reference sources permission to publish and disseminate the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation.

Signature

Malpho

Date 2023-03-24

Biobased Combined Heat and Power Production in Sweden

 Opportunities for and Challenges to Sustainability from the Plant Operator Perspective

Malin Pettersson

Department of Technology and Society Faculty of Engineering 2023



Cover photo by Peter Duvander

Copyright pp 1-65 Malin Pettersson

Paper 1 \bigcirc the authors. Published by Elsevier with CC BY licence Paper 2 \bigcirc the authors. Published by Elsevier with CC BY licence Paper 3 \bigcirc the authors. Published by Elsevier with CC BY licence Paper 4 \bigcirc the authors (unpublished manuscript)

Faculty of Engineering Department of Technology and Society

ISBN 978-91-8039-605-9 (electronic) ISBN 978-91-8039-604-2 (print) ISRN LUTFD2/TFEM--23/1045--SE + (1- 65) ISSN 1102-3651 Printed in Sweden by Media-Tryck, Lund University Lund 2023



Media-Tryck is a Nordic Swan Ecolabel certified provider of printed material. Read more about our environmental work at www.mediatryck.lu.se

MADE IN SWEDEN 📲

Like it or not, for the moment the Earth is where we make our stand.

- Carl Sagan

Contents

	Abs	Abstract			
	Pop	ulärvetenskaplig sammanfattning	12		
	List of publications The author's contributions (CRediT) Other relevant publications				
	Ack	nowledgements	16		
1	Intr	oduction	17		
	1.1	The current and historic role of biobased combined heat and p production in the Swedish energy system	ower 17		
	1.2	New roles and demands emerge for biobased CHP	19		
	1.3	The important lens of the CHP plant operator	21		
	1.4	Aim and research questions	22		
	1.5	Scope and outline	22		
2	Res	earch approach and process	25		
	2.1	Collaboration with the operator	25		
	2.2	Methodology considerations	26		
		2.2.1 Research processes in the papers	27		
3	Tow	ards a circular material chain in biobased CHP plants	29		
	3.1	Long-term forest production as a driver for circularity in biobs	ased		
	CHI	Poperations	29		
		3.1.1 The role of wood ash in sustainable forestry	29		
		CHP plants			
		3.1.3 Wood ash production at CHP plants			
	3.2	Co-incineration with waste wood as a potential challenge	31		
		3.2.1 Contamination of wood ash by co-incineration	31		
		3.2.2 Co-incineration as a societal challenge	33		
	3.3	Opportunities and challenges for increasing recyclable ash	2.4		
		Irom CHP plants			

		3.3.2 State of the policy environment	35
	3.4	Key insights	36
4 Fro		m district heating to liquid biofuels	37
	4.1	Making use of the decline in district heating demand	37
	4.2	The need for low-carbon liquid biofuels	38
	4.3	A heat-demanding bio-oil process for CHP integration4.3.1 From feedstock to end use	39 40
	4.4	LCA for decision-making of decarbonisation technology application	40
	4.5	Key insights	42
5	Add	l-on technologies for GHG emission mitigation	43
	5.1	The need for negative emissions	43
	5.2	CCS in the CHP sector	44
		5.2.1 Emerging carbon capture technologies for the CHP sector5.2.2 Steering measures for BECCS	44 45
	5.3	 GHG mitigation at CHP plants in the future energy system	46 46 46 47
	5.4	Key insights	48
6	Con	clusions and outlook	49
	6.1	Conclusions and main contributions	49
	6.2	Outlook and further research	50
Refe	rence	S	52

Abstract

Although combined heat and power (CHP) production in Sweden is already largely decarbonised, this technology has further potential to alleviate pressing environmental concerns. Today, biobased CHP plants connected to district heating (DH) grids dominate the Swedish residential heating sector. The societal context in which CHP plants operate is, however, subject to continuous change. New aims and requirements concerning decarbonisation and resource efficiency are being discussed and implemented in the political arena to promote the shift towards a sustainable energy system. These include the cascading use of biomass, bioenergy carbon capture, support schemes for innovative investments, life-cycle-based climate performance regulations, and circularity demands. Such shifts affect the operation of CHP plants and can provide new opportunities and challenges that have not yet been investigated. Neither are the consequences fully understood in the scientific or political community. This thesis presents an investigation of the opportunities and challenges facing CHP plant operators within the context of a shift towards a sustainable energy system.

Issues of environmental relevance were investigated through a case study of a Swedish wood-fuelled CHP plant. The recycling of wood ash to forest soils after logging residue outtake is recommended to close the loop for forest nutrients and ensure forest production. However, co-incineration of waste wood and forest fuels in the Swedish DH sector was found to inhibit wood ash recycling, due to pollutants in the ash from waste wood. It was also found to be an overlooked challenge in the transition to a circular bioeconomy, where waste wood is utilised to produce energy. Other important issues in a circular bioeconomy are the efficient use of biomass and the production of high-value biobased products. CHP plants are dependent on a stable heat demand to operate efficiently. The addition of a pyrolysis unit, a heatdemanding process, to produce liquid biofuels that could increase the uptime and open up an additional market for CHP plants as biorefineries was studied. Life-cycle analysis showed this to be technically feasible at the CHP plant studied, and to substantially improve the overall greenhouse gas (GHG) benefits. Negative GHG emissions have been deemed by the IPCC to be an important complement in achieving net zero GHG emissions. Biobased CHP plants can contribute to negative emissions through the implementation of carbon capture. However, these technologies are energy-demanding, and thus reduce the energy efficiency of the plant. It was shown that the carbon mitigation potential of installing equipment for carbon capture or liquid biofuel production was highly dependent on which energy sources compensate for the changes in the value chains, which is in turn dependent on the decarbonisation of the surrounding energy system. An important outcome of the work presented in this thesis is the identification of existing and emerging opportunities and challenges related to sustainability in biobased CHP plants, which can contribute to, or hamper, the fulfilment of environmental goals. The studies on

these opportunities and challenges can prove valuable knowledge for other countries and regions that are planning to develop biobased CHP plants with DH grids. Successful navigation of these opportunities and challenges by policy makers and CHP plant stakeholders will be instrumental in ensuring a decarbonised and resource-efficient energy system.

Populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning

Även om kraftvärmeproduktionen redan är i stort sett koldioxidneutral i Sverige har denna teknik en potential att ytterligare bidra till angelägna miljöfrågor. Idag dominerar biobaserade kraftvärmeverk anslutna till fiärrvärmenät den svenska bostadsvärmesektorn. Det samhälleliga sammanhang som kraftvärmeverken verkar i är ständigt föremål för förändringar. Nya mål och krav gällande utfasning av fossila bränslen och resurseffektivitet, som stödjer en förändring mot ett hållbart energisystem, diskuteras och implementeras på den politiska arenan. Dessa inkluderar kaskadanvändning av biomassa, bioenergiavskiljning av koldioxid, stödsystem för innovativa investeringar, livscykelbaserade klimatföreskrifter och förändringar krav på cirkularitet. Sådana förändrar verkligheten för kraftvärmeverksföretagen och kan innebära nya utmaningar och möjligheter som ännu inte har kartlagts, och konsekvenser som inte helt förstås, i det vetenskapliga eller politiska samfundet. Denna avhandling omfattar en undersökning av möjligheter och utmaningar för en kraftvärmeoperatör inom ramen för en förändring mot ett hållbart energisystem.

Olika frågor av miljörelevans studerades med hjälp av en fallstudie av ett svenskt trädbränsleeldat kraftvärmeverk. Återföring av träaska till skogsmark efter skogsbränsleuttag rekommenderas för att stänga kretsloppet för näringsämnen och säkerställa skogsproduktion. Samförbränning av skogsbränslen och returträ i den svenska fjärrvärmesektorn visade sig förorena träaskan och därigenom hämma återföring av den. Det visade sig också vara en förbisedd utmaning i övergången till en cirkulär bioekonomi. En annan viktig fråga för en cirkulär bioekonomi är effektiv användning av biomassa och produktion av högvärdiga biobaserade produkter. Parallellt är kraftvärmeverken beroende av ett stabilt värmebehov för att vara i gång. En utredd lösning är att lägga till en pyrolysenhet, en värmekrävande process för att producera flytande biobränslen, som skulle kunna öka drifttiden för kraftvärmeverk och öppna ytterligare en marknad som bioraffinaderier. Detta har visat sig vara tekniskt genomförbart vid fallstudiens kraftvärmeverk och avsevärt minska de totala växthusgasutsläppen, när de uppskattas i olika livscykelanalyser. Negativa växthusgasutsläpp har ansetts vara ett viktigt komplement av IPCC för att nå nettonollutsläpp av växthusgaser. Biobaserade kraftvärmeverk kan bidra till negativa utsläpp genom att installera koldioxidavskiljningsteknik. Dessa tekniker är energikrävande och minskar anläggningens energieffektivitet. Potentialen att reducera koldioxidutsläpp visades vara starkt beroende av vilka energikällor som kompenserar för förändringarna i värdekedjorna, vilket i sin tur är beroende av utfasning av fossila bränslen i det omgivande energisystemet. Detta visade sig gälla både för att installera koldioxidavskiljning och för att producera flytande biobränsle genom pyrolys. Ett viktigt resultat av denna avhandling är belysandet av befintliga och framväxande möjligheter och utmaningar kopplat till hållbarhet för biobaserade kraftvärmeverk, som kan bidra till, eller hämma, uppfyllandet av miljömål beroende

på hur de hanteras. För andra länder och regioner som vill installera biobaserad kraftvärme med fjärrvärmenät kan de undersökta tillvägagångssätten för att hantera dessa möjligheter och utmaningar visa sig vara värdefull kunskap. För beslutsfattare och intressenter i kraftvärme kommer en framgångsrik navigering av dessa möjligheter och utmaningar vara avgörande för att säkerställa en fortsatt utveckling mot ett koldioxidfritt och resurseffektivt energisystem.

List of publications

This thesis is based on following publications, which will be referred to in the text by their Roman numerals. The papers are appended at the end of the thesis.

- I. Pettersson, M, Björnsson, L & Börjesson, P, 2020. *Recycling of ash from co-incineration of waste wood and forest fuels: An overlooked challenge in a circular bioenergy system*, Biomass & Bioenergy, vol. 142C, 105713.
- II. Björnsson, L, Pettersson, M, Börjesson, P, Ottosson, P & Gustavsson, C, 2021. Integrating bio-oil production from wood fuels in an existing heat and power plant – evaluation of energy and greenhouse gas performance in a Swedish case study, Sustainable Energy Technologies and Assessments, Volume 48, 2021, 101648.
- III. Pettersson, M, Olofsson, J, Börjesson, P & Björnsson, L, 2022. Reductions in greenhouse gas emissions through innovative co-production of bio-oil in combined heat and power plants, Applied Energy, vol. 324, 119637.
- IV. Pettersson, M, & Björnsson, L. Greenhouse gas emission mitigations through add-on technologies for biobased heat and power – a comparison of BECCS and liquid biofuel production. Manuscript to be submitted to the International Journal of Greenhouse Gas Control.

The author's contributions (CRediT)

Paper I - Conceptualization, Investigation, Methodology, Data curation, Writing – review & editing, Visualization.

Paper II - Investigation, Methodology, Writing - review & editing.

Paper III - Conceptualization, Methodology, Formal analysis, Investigation, Data curation, Writing – original draft, Visualization, Project administration.

Paper IV - Conceptualization, Methodology, Formal analysis, Investigation, Data curation, Writing – original draft, Visualization, Project administration.

All authors read and approved the final manuscripts.

Other relevant publications

Pettersson, M, & Björnsson, L, 2019. Aska från samförbränning av returträ och andra biobränslen: Förekomst av önskade näringsämnen och oönskade spårämnen vid en fallstudie av Örtofta kraftvärmeverk. (Rapport 112 ed. 1) Miljö- och energisystem, LTH, Lunds universitet. (In Swedish)

Björnsson, L, Gustavsson, C, Pettersson, M, Börjesson, P, Ottosson, P, & Samuelsson, J, 2021. *Bioolja från befintliga kraftvärmeverk – en systemstudie: Sammanfattning av ett forskningssamarbete mellan Lunds Tekniska Högskola, Karlstad Universitet och Kraftringen Energi.* (Rapport 123 ed. 1) Miljö- och energisystem, LTH, Lunds universitet. (In Swedish)

Pettersson, M, 2022. Longer Operating Time and Great Climate Benefit in Bio-oil *Production at CHP Plants*, Proceedings of The European Biomass Conference and Exhibition, Online, May 2022.

Acknowledgements

First, a little introspection. I have come to realise that writing a thesis is a very personal but, at the same time, revealing process. At times I have picked my own thought-processes and behaviours apart, questioned them just as I have done with my research topic; wondered what in world I am looking at and how I am supposed to do anything valuable with this. Luckily, I have had the help of many wonderful people in bringing this project home.

I thank my supervisors Lovisa, Pål, Fredric and Liisa for matching their stubbornness to get me through the process, with my own apparent self-critical stubbornness. Thank you for generously lending me your invaluable ideas, support and abilities.

The personnel at Kraftringen have been immensely forthcoming, professional, enthusiastic, and helpful regarding my requirements and needs. This thesis would have been an entirely different (and lesser) product without them. Thank you, Peter Ottosson, Stefan Hansson, Fredrik Fackler, Olof Bengtsson, Marie Caesar, and Olle Eliasson.

Christer Gustavsson and Jörgen Samuelsson at Karlstad University have helped greatly in advancing our joint study of integrating pyrolysis at Örtofta. Thank you, Julia Hansson from IVL and Mariësse Van Sluisveld from PBL Netherlands for reading and discussing my work, and Johanna Beiron from Chalmers for insightful and enjoyable conversations.

My colleagues at Environmental and Energy systems studies, you are all amazing and praiseworthy. My PhD colleagues, Valentin (what would I have done without you?), Johanna, Malin, Joachim, Jens, Ellen, Clemens, Lovisa, Jonas, Natasha, Eugene and Zhenxi, you have meant the world to me. Thank you for letting me spend these years with you. Thank you Jennifer Löfgreen, Sara Gunnarsson and all the people involved in the LU PhD Writing Lab and Dokt.

My family Jan, Ewa, Marie, and Linnea. My close friends and extended family, Joel (Sandy), Eyton (Axel), Laura, Birk, Mariësse and Maria. All my wonderful friends. Thank you for your support, from the bottom of my heart.

And little Åke, my bundle of joy, who always brightens my day.

Malin,

March 2023

1 Introduction

1.1 The current and historic role of biobased combined heat and power production in the Swedish energy system

In 2022, thermal energy demand in buildings made up twenty-five percent of the total global final energy demand. Only 14.7% of that demand was supplied by renewable sources [1]. The need for decarbonisation and efficiency measures in residential and space heating is imminent, to reduce its effect on the environment. Many of these measures have already been implemented in Sweden through the introduction of biobased combined heat and power (CHP) plants, also called cogeneration plants, connected to district heating (DH) systems, instead of fossil fuelbased heating.

The development of decarbonisation was prompted by a desire for greater independence from oil imports in the 1970s. The desire drove a shift from fossil-fuelled heat production to the use of logging residues, forestry by-products (such as sawdust and bark from sawmills and residual heat from pulp and paper mills) and household waste. Today, Swedish heating fuels are almost completely fossil-free. In 2020, the use of fossil fuels in the heating sector (including CHP) amounted to only 1.5% of the total fuel use [2]. A small share of back-up fuels used at peak load are still fossil-based [3]. The energy input and fossil CO₂ emissions attributed to DH in Sweden between 1970 and 2020 are shown Figure 1. This development has brought about a significant reduction in the impact of the Swedish heating sector on the climate; the greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions from heating decreased by 90% between 1970 and 2014 [4]. Sweden now has the lowest average carbon footprint for residential heating in the European Union (EU) (8.1 g CO₂-eq/MJ in 2015) [5], and is continuing to decline [6].



Figure 1. Energy used in the production of DH in Sweden (PJ) [7] and CO₂ emissions from the fossil energy input to Swedish DH systems (statistical data [8] adapted using the calculation method described by Ericsson & Werner [4]).

The major share of residential heating in Sweden, around 60%, is supplied using approximately 556 separate DH grids [4,9]. Currently, 110 biomass and waste-fired CHP plants are connected to 72 of the DH grids [10]. Thus, biobased CHP plants connected to DH grids plays an important role in the contemporary Swedish heating sector. Figure 2 shows the development of CHP plant installations in Sweden currently in operation and their heat and power output, averaging around 65 and 22 MW, respectively. It can be noted that the classification of CHP plant in this thesis do not include pulp and paper mills. Much of the running CHP capacity was installed during 2005-2015, effectively increasing the resource efficiency of the fuels used for residential heating. Out of the Swedish electricity production in 2021, 9% were produced in CHP plants [11].



Figure 2. The number of CHP plants commissioned in Sweden between 1964 and 2020, and their installed heat and power capacity [10].

Biobased CHP could be a key technology to support in policies for decarbonised and energy efficient heat and power production, given the imminent global need and the important role the technology has played in Sweden. One reason in that CHP plants can achieve high energy efficiencies of about 90%. High-temperature, highpressure steam is used for electricity generation, and the remaining steam is used to heat the DH medium. The combined production of heat and power is promoted in the EU Energy Efficiency Directive to increase energy efficiency within the EU member states [12]. Another reason is fossil fuels still dominating CHP production in Europe [13], and there is a large need for switching to renewable fuels.

In Sweden, however, the market for heat and power from biobased CHP plants is more or less saturated [14]. Most investments are made to replace old plants [3]. In parallel, there is a common ambition in the heating sector to further contribute to decreasing the GHG emissions [15]. In other words, the CHP and DH infrastructure in Sweden is already highly developed, and there is no further demand for forestry residues for centralised heat production. Thus, the task facing the Swedish energy sector is to ensure the continued delivery of decarbonised heat and power, and to further develop CHP plants to gain even greater GHG benefits.

1.2 New roles and demands emerge for biobased CHP

Biobased CHP will remain important in the foreseeable future, as a producer of lowcarbon electricity and DH. There are also opportunities for the CHP plant operators, within the transition to a bioeconomy, to contribute and strengthen their role in the

energy system. An example is by refining biomass to high-value products and intermediates through different technology configurations (see for example [17-20]). Another opportunity is CO₂ capture in CHP plants, thereby becoming a producer of negative emissions. An IPCC Assessment Report published in April 2022 (AR6) stresses that carbon dioxide removal (CDR) methods must be implemented as soon as possible if we are to achieve climate goals [21]. CDR is defined as anthropological activities that remove carbon dioxide from the atmosphere and store it durably in reservoirs or products (ibid.). CDR methods includes bioenergy carbon capture and storage (BECCS). In densely populated areas the CHP plants will also have a key role in frequency control and balancing intermittent renewable power production [22–24]. In realising these opportunities, steering measures on European and Swedish levels are being put forth, which include demands on environmental sustainability (including life cycle GHG emissions). An example in the EU Innovation fund (IF), the largest fund in the world for financing innovative climate mitigation projects [25]. Another example is the EU Renewable Energy Directive (RED) promotes increased production of renewable energy with low GHG emissions [26].

Beside the opportunities, there are also emerging challenges for CHP plant operators. One example is the heating load in Swedish DH grids being expected to decrease in the coming decade. There are multiple reasons for this trend. Energy efficiency measures in buildings, climate change, and a rise in installation of domestic heat pumps for space heating together lowers the need for heating [3,27]. Another example of a challenge is the implementation of the cascade principle of biomass in EU directives, driven by biomass being a limited resource. In the third revision of the EU RED, currently in trialogue before final adoption, the sustainability of some solid biofuels that are used in the Swedish DH sector are questioned. The use of primary woody biomass, i.e., all wood removed from forests including logging residues, for energy purposes has been argued to be unsustainable by the European Parliament [28], and should not be financially supported. The circular management of wood ashes and forest nutrients are examples of ongoing challenges. The need for bringing wood ashes back to forest soil to close the loop on forest nutrients has been known for some time [29,30], but the recycling rate remains low [31]. The urgency is exacerbated through the increased need for sustainable forest biomass feedstock. There are more European policies that could affect the environmental performance of biobased CHP operators, such as the EU waste directive [32], the regulation for achieving climate neutrality [33] and action plan for circular economy [34]. The examples of opportunities and challenges illustrate the complexity and range of important aspects for sustainable development of biobased CHP plants. Thus, aspects of environmental sustainability in relation to the CHP sector needs to be further studied from both a deeper and broader energy system perspective.

1.3 The important lens of the CHP plant operator

Biobased CHP plants are predicted to have important roles in a 2050 decarbonised energy system [34], and research and policy on the future for CHP is developing, offering many options for CHP plant operators, regarding both existing plants and new investments. At the same time, biobased CHP often involve large investments, compared to other existing heat supplying technologies for DH grids [39]. Policies and CHP plant stakeholders need to ensure that the existing and emerging opportunities and challenges of the biobased CHP operator are successfully navigated, to maximise the contribution of the technology to a biobased economy and safeguard their important role in the community.

One approach to determine the consequences of various policy regulations and instruments that aim to contribute to sustainability goals in the energy system, is to include the perspectives of actors and stakeholders. Including public stakeholder perspectives can lead to formulation of more relevant problem formulation for sustainability transitions in society [35,36], due to for example better local and regional knowledge. This highlights the prospect of using a CHP plant operator perspective to identify and understand opportunities and challenges to a sustainable energy system.

The perspective of existing DH companies has been used in exploratory case studies for identifying and highlighting details on drivers and challenges for sustainable energy system goals in current operations [37,38]. Since the conditions for the Swedish CHP operators are partly similar but could also vary, for example concerning the length of heating season and availability of different biomass feedstocks [23], policies could have different consequences and benefits for biobased CHP operators. It is thus imperative for CHP operators to understand the consequences of regulatory and technology development which may influence future operations. Vice versa, regulators and policy makers must understand what effects regulations have on the actors in the CHP sector.

Pertaining such knowledge may also be useful for governmental bodies and stakeholders in other countries where the aim is to use decarbonise the heating system. A decarbonised heating system brings importance and relevance to identifying and resolving sustainability challenges beyond switching to renewable sources. The knowledge provided by a case study in Sweden, where the development of renewable heating is advanced, will be useful in other countries and regions with similar conditions planning to shift their energy system towards the sustainable use of CHP, or the development of existing plants. In particular in regions with boreal forests, where the role of wood-fuelled CHP plants could be significantly enhanced [14].

1.4 Aim and research questions

The central aim of the work presented in this thesis was to increase our knowledge on the conditions for, and potential of, biobased combined heat and power production in the transition to an environmentally sustainable energy system. To this end, the following three research questions were posed:

- 1. Which are the key issues in achieving a sustainable circular material chain for wood-fuelled CHP plants?
- 2. What are the conditions and potential for pyrolysis technology integration to extend the CHP plant operating season and achieve wider energy system decarbonisation?
- 3. How do energy system decarbonisation levels affect life-cycle GHG emissions from BECCS integration at CHP plants?

1.5 Scope and outline

The aspect of challenges to the sustainability of biobased CHP plants is broad and many aspects must be analysed. This thesis focuses on aspects of environmental sustainability and pathways for realising policy and steering measures for woodfuelled CHP. The scientific contributions of this work have the focus of the energy company operation in relation to the Swedish contemporary energy system. As specified in the research questions above, the thesis covers three research subjects, described in four papers (**Papers I-IV**). The research subjects are related to the sustainable development of a Swedish wood-fuelled CHP plant, i.e., they either help or hamper the CHP plant in achieving nationally set environmental goals, in their current and near-future operation.

The CHP plant at Örtofta in southern Sweden was used in formulating the research questions and constructing the case studies described in this thesis. This CHP plant is operated by the energy company Kraftringen Energi AB, owned by the local authorities (the municipality of Lund, Lomma and Eslöv) [40]. There are several factors that made this plant a suitable and interesting case to study. For example, the heat produced at the Örtofta CHP plant and distributed through the DH grid has one of the lowest GHG emission factors in Sweden [41]. The plant is solely operated on biofuels; different types of wood fuels are co-incinerated. The shorter heating season in southern Sweden, where the Örtofta plant is situated, makes the plant an especially suitable case for investigating opportunities for increasing plant uptime. The opportunities and challenges identified in the current and future operation of the Örtofta CHP plant, and the results of case studies are presented in the wider energy systems perspective. The focus was on issues in the near future, as these are most relevant and pressing for the plant operator. The issues dealt with in the papers

are presented in Figure 3, where the lighter boxes contain aspects that are relevant for the CHP operator from a sustainability perspective. The outer boxes contain the areas related to these CHP operator aspects, that were identified as being of scientific relevance to investigate further, and consequently explored in the four papers. Each area is represented and discussed in a separate chapter of this thesis (Chapters 3,4 and 5), including the contributions from each paper.

The following factors are not included in the scope of thesis: financial and social sustainability (such as energy access and affordability), sustainable forestry including forestry carbon balances and biodiversity, the operator perspective of heat-only boilers, and household waste-fuelled plants.



Figure 3. Sustainability-related aspects of the CHP plant operator (light boxes) and identified areas further explored in papers (darker boxes).

Chapter 2 contains a brief description of the research process and approaches used in the thesis. Chapter 3 describes the problems associated with recycling ash from wood-fuelled CHP plants, and the problem this poses to achieving circular material goals, including the contributions from **Paper I**. Chapter 4 discusses the impact of including a unit for the pyrolysis of wood fuels at a CHP plant on the continued delivery of low-carbon heat and power, and the potential for producing liquid biofuels to help decarbonise the transport sector (**Papers II** and **III**). Chapter 5 deals with the possible effects of implementing carbon capture at a CHP plant on the delivery of heat and power, and on the potential for negative GHG emissions (**Paper IV**). The main findings are summarised in Chapter 6, and an outlook on further research is provided.

2 Research approach and process

This chapter describes the general approach used, and methodological considerations applied in this thesis. The aim is to motivate the methodological choices and assumptions made in the various studies. Details pertaining to each study can be found in the relevant papers.

2.1 Collaboration with the operator

The research questions were formulated through a collaboration with the energy company Kraftringen Energi AB and applying a broad energy systems perspective. These two viewpoints allowed for the identification of research questions that are relevant both for the individual energy company, and for the transition to a sustainable society in general. A process including collaboration with both academic and non-academic actors (also called transdisciplinary co-production of knowledge), is an acknowledged approach to gain relevant knowledge to achieve sustainability transformations of society, for example through promoting more informed and equitable decision-making [42]. Jacobi et al [43] argue that knowledge obtained from research aimed at sustainability transformations cannot be utilized without discussions between academic and non-academic actors. Throughout the course of this work, dialogue and workshops involving experts from Kraftringen Energi AB were used to qualitatively identify interesting sustainability-related phenomena at the plant. Literature surveys of relevant policy and steering measures were conducted to identify intersecting questions, i.e., research questions that are relevant from the academic and the broader societal perspectives. Apart from identifying and discussing the relevance of the research questions to the operator, collaboration with Kraftringen Energi AB served to confirm the suitability of the methodology, using the Örtofta CHP plant as a case study (an aerial view of the plant can be seen in Figure 4). The results were also discussed and verified with experts from Kraftringen Energi AB.



Figure 4. The Örtofta CHP plant. Photo: Peter Duvander, Kraftringen Energi AB.

2.2 Methodology considerations

Research approaches were designed to analyse general, overarching problems of societal importance concerning biobased CHP; specifically, ash recycling, a decline in heat demand, decarbonisation of the transport sector, and negative GHG emissions. Each study was conducted using a problem-oriented approach, where the problem at hand dictated the choice of specific methods. The Örtofta CHP plant was used as case study object for data collection. A case study is helpful to obtain a detailed perspective and in understanding the real-life context in which an operator or other actor operates [44]. The data collected included, but were not limited to, Örtofta CHP operations and business strategies. Other data sources utilised included academic literature, official reports and statistics, and grey literature published by energy sector actors.

In this thesis, Technology assessment has been an important approach for assessing sustainability impacts of biobased CHP plants in relation to the overall energy system development. The consequences of different sustainability requirements associated with CHP production must be analysed from a systems perspective to manage conflicts in different objectives. This has for example been determined necessary to get a comprehensive view of trade-offs and potentials of integrating biofuel production with DH systems [45]. Modelling material flows, systems analysis, as well as expert discussions and dialogues with stakeholders, are common methods when assessing potential consequences of energy supply technologies, in relation to sustainability strategies [46,47]. The knowledge is needed when

assessing impacts of political goals and measures for sustainability, and consequently, to provide robust policy advice (ibid.).

Potential development pathways for biobased CHP plant technology were assessed through conceptualisation of prospective process chains, and contextualisation through life cycle GHG emission assessments, sensitivity assessments and qualitative discussions. Several methods of life-cycle analysis (LCA) were employed (**Papers II-IV**), which were chosen based on their aim and the research question at hand. A common factor in the LCA methods was that the results would provide relevant decision guidance for an operator in Sweden if the investigated concepts were to be realised. In other words, the results indicate how interesting a particular concept is for the CHP sector regarding life cycle GHG emission performance. The aim of this work was not to identify the most suitable LCA method. Rather, a number of different relevant LCA-based decision-making tools, with their own goals and interpretation of the results, were used. The aim was to reflect reality for the CHP operator. This resulted in a knowledge repository that allows technology to be evaluated from a set of different viewpoints, and to which other decarbonisation technologies may be compared.

2.2.1 Research processes in the papers

The first objective in the first study (**Paper I**), was to thoroughly understand and confirm the connection between the wood fuel fractions entering the Örtofta CHP plant, in this case a mix of untreated¹ wood and waste wood, and the quality of the ash. A mass balance was achieved by analysing the wood fuel fractions used, the mixture entering the boiler, the additives and the resulting ash at the Örtofta CHP plant. The second objective was to seek the energy sector relevance of the resulting available statistics of CHP plants using untreated wood and waste wood, as well as statistics on ash produced from wood fuels. Finally, opportunities of, and challenges to, technological and financial solutions, and the current state of the policy environment regarding wood ash recycling and choice of fuel mix, were assessed using a literature study and Kraftringen Energi AB data.

In the second study (**Paper II**), the first objective was to estimate how the amount of heat available would be affected when integrating a pyrolysis reactor into the Örtofta CHP plant, since the issue being studied was the declining demand for residential heating. The work that had recently been done by C Gustavsson [18] allowed for a process chain to be conceptualised using operational data from the Örtofta CHP plant and literature values for pyrolysis. The process modelling tool CHEMCAD, designed and run by co-authors C Gustavsson and P Ottosson,

¹ Untreated wood fuels refer to what is also called primary and secondary biomass residues [62], such as logging residues, discarded round wood, sawdust and bark.

provided the annual demand for wood fuel, internal heat, and electricity, as well as the production of DH, electricity, and bio-oil. The second objective was to assess that the pyrolysis oil produced meets current GHG emission criteria and is comparable to differently sourced bio-oil, so as to be attractive on the biofuel market. It was also important to establish that pyrolysis would not jeopardise the currently low emission factors of the heat and power currently delivered from the Örtofta CHP plant. Therefore, the methodology of the EU RED was used to calculate the GHG emissions associated with the resulting energy outputs. The study thus included the value chain energy and materials from cradle-to-gate. In addition, GHG emissions were calculated using the Alternative Generation Method, which is used by operators in the CHP sector when publishing GHG emissions associated with individual plants, allowing comparisons of environmental performance. Thus, it was important to use this method for the operator perspective.

The study described in **Paper III** was based on the same energy and material inventory as in **Paper II**, but a different approach was employed for the GHG emission calculations. The EU IF methodology was used in this study as it provides decision support for innovative investments in decarbonisation projects. The decarbonisation potential of bio-oil depends on what kind of fuel och product the bio-oil replaces [48]. A process chain was added to include the fuels that would be substituted by the heat, electricity, and refined bio-oil. The bio-oil refinery process was chosen based on a literature study. The study included method evaluation through a sensitivity assessment of the parameters that were identified as those significantly affecting the LCA results.

Kraftringen Energi AB had started to assess the possibility of installing postcombustion carbon capture during the course of the work presented in this thesis. Two add-on technology development concepts, namely pyrolysis integration and BECCS, had been modelled for the Örtofta CHP plant and the results allowed for a comparison of two decarbonisation pathways for a biobased CHP and were presented in **Paper IV**. The LCA methods used in the study were aimed at reflecting the dynamics of decarbonisation of the energy system. This motivated a prospective LCA approach, also based on the experiences from the LCAs in **Paper II** and **III**. Emission factors for electricity, heat, transportation fuels, as well as demand for wood fuels were evaluated to illustrate how different scenarios for decarbonisation influence the life cycle GHG emissions performance of the studied add-on technologies.

3 Towards a circular material chain in biobased CHP plants

3.1 Long-term forest production as a driver for circularity in biobased CHP operations

3.1.1 The role of wood ash in sustainable forestry

Logging residues, which consist of branches and treetops, have traditionally been left in forests after final felling as they are not used in the production of roundwood at sawmills or in the pulp and paper industry. Logging residues are currently used for energy purposes in Sweden, specifically as a solid biofuel for heat and power production (see Figure 1). There is a large untapped sustainable potential in Swedish production forests for harvesting of logging residues for energy purposes [49,50]. However, an excessive outtake of logging residues may lead to a reduction in forest productivity as many nutrients important for forest growth are stored in the tops and branches of the tree.

The nutrients removed from the forest in logging residues are part of the so-called ash-forming materials in the wood. Nitrogen, however, is removed with the flue gas upon combustion. Returning wood ash to the forest is recommended by the Swedish Forest Agency for long-term sustainable logging residue outtake [51]. This practice closes the loop for wood by bringing the ash-forming compounds back to the forest where they can be used as nutrients by new trees. Wood ash also provides a desirable liming effect, which compensates for acidification of the forest soil resulting from logging residue outtake, which would otherwise exacerbate nutrient losses. This practice is in line with the current research consensus on ash recycling to forests as a practice to mitigate negative environmental effects of logging residue outtake [31]. It has also been identified as a commendable practice in other countries in a survey by IEA Bioenergy [52].

The nutrients that are particularly important to recycle are phosphorus, magnesium, potassium and sodium (zinc is also important, however, too high concentrations cause damage). The Swedish Forestry Agency has therefore set minimum concentration limits for these elements to ensure that the wood ash sufficiently

counteracts the loss of the above-mentioned elements from logging residue outtake [51]. The recommendations also include upper limits on a number of particularly harmful elements, such as mercury, cadmium, arsenic, lead and copper, to prevent harmful levels of toxic compounds.

3.1.2 The importance of increasing recyclable ash from CHP plants

Swedish forest production models assume that wood ash is recycled back to the forest to the extent recommended by the Swedish Forest Agency to ensure long-term forest production [53]. However, this does not completely compensate for logging residue out-take [51]. The available data indicate that the practice of offsetting the environmental impact of logging residue outtake is not a functioning mechanism, as only a small proportion of the wood ash generated from logging residues is recycled to forest soils, as can be seen in Figure 5.



Figure 5. Reported amounts of recycled ash to Swedish forests (t DM/y) [54] and the recommended amount that should be recycled, derived from the 3-year average of logging residue outtake in Sweden and a recommended amount of ash of 3 t DM per ha [51].

Thus, a higher degree of ash recycling is necessary if the high energy potential of logging residues is to be sustainably achieved. The rate of Swedish forest production and outtake has levelled off during recent years [55], in contrast to the prediction of increasing forest production [50]. The trend in forest production is declining, while the outtake continues to increase. This situation underlines the importance of wood ash recycling to ensure long-term sustainable forest production. Since logging residues are primarily used for heat and power production in CHP plants,

understanding and facilitating the potential of biobased CHP plants to increase the amount of recyclable ash are of particular importance.

3.1.3 Wood ash production at CHP plants

Different kinds of biofuel require different CHP plant infrastructure (e.g. boiler bed and flue gas cleaning), which in turn influences the quality of the ash produced. There are two prevailing bed types: Fluidised Bed Circulation (FBC) boiler and grate-firing. The Örtofta CHP plant, investigated in the case study in Paper I, has an FBC which creates two types of ash. Fly ash is collected from the flue gas, and bottom ash is removed from the boiler bed and contains predominantly used sand. The fly ash is classified as toxic waste due to its high levels of toxic compounds and is disposed of by landfilling. The bottom ash contains the same compounds, but the amount of sand reduces the concentration such that it is not classified as toxic. It is currently used for sealing old landfills. From the perspective of the operator, Kraftringen Energi AB, the large quantities of ash generated at the Örtofta CHP plant sent to landfill constitute a sustainability-related problem, as this conflicts with the environmental circularity goals of the municipally governed owner. No immediate solution to the problem had been found, as landfilling was the sole management strategy offered by the available receivers of the ash. Beyond the environmental issues of landfill, another concern with current fly ash management has emerged for many Swedish CHP plants. The reason is that one of the only largescale recipients of toxic ash in the Nordic countries, NOAH AS, will soon have filled their landfill site at Langöva [56]. Besides Langöva, there are currently very few alternatives for fly ash from Swedish CHP plants that burn waste products. Ash is not allowed to be stored long-term at the Örtofta CHP plant site, and without another storage site to send the ash, plant operations must ultimately be stopped.

3.2 Co-incineration with waste wood as a potential challenge

3.2.1 Contamination of wood ash by co-incineration

Contaminants such as impregnation chemicals and paint are added to wood during its use, which will prevent it from being recycled [57,58]. This poses a significant problem to achieving the goal of a circular economy [59]. Furthermore, as landfilling with combustible waste in the EU, most waste wood is used for energy purposes [60]. This is in line with the EU Waste Directive and Waste-to-energy communication [61], promoting material recycling and closing material loops. Waste wood, also categorized as tertiary biomass residues [62], is classified according to the contamination level, which in turn depends on its treatments in the use phase. The contaminants are concentrated in the ash, making landfilling the only viable management option for most waste wood ash. There is no political goal in Sweden or the EU to recirculate ash from waste wood to forest soils [63]. The lower price of waste wood than other wood fuels [64], encourage the strategy of co-incinerating solid wood fuels [65], i.e., using a mix of untreated wood and waste wood (the downside being more expensive flue gas cleaning). This leads to the risk of potentially forest-recyclable ash from untreated wood fuels being contaminated by waste wood ash. The fuel used at the Örtofta CHP plant during this study was a mixture of 50% waste wood, 15% logging residues, 25% sawdust and bark, and 10% peat (which has now been phased-out and substituted with increased shares of the other fuels). The wood fuel fractions and ash from the Örtofta CHP plant was analysed to determine the origin of the compounds in the ash (**Paper I**). Figure 6 shows a photo taken during the sampling of wood fuels.



Figure 6 Sample study at Örofta CHP 2018-02-27. Photo: Malin Pettersson.

The results showed that the ash contained too high levels of contaminants to be acceptable for forest soil recycling, and that they originated almost exclusively from waste wood. The results also showed that if the logging residues were to be incinerated alone, the ash would contain sufficient nutrients to meet the current requirements for recycling to the forest. However, all the ash is currently disposed of by landfilling.

3.2.2 Co-incineration as a societal challenge

In **Paper I**, the incidence of co-incinerating waste wood with untreated wood fuels and fate of the wood fuel ashes was studied. One result was that a continued outtake of logging residues and, consequently, a need for compensating forest soils with wood ash would most likely continue over a foreseeable future. This is supported by recent statistics; logging residue out-take for energy purposes has been steady at around 35 PJ/y for the past ten years in Sweden [66], with a turning point in a slightly declining trend in 2021. Between 2013 and 2021, waste wood use for heat and power production increased from 16.5 to 25 PJ/y [67]. An assessment focused on the Swedish DH systems with the highest use of logging residues and waste wood, indicated that co-incineration is widespread and co-incinerating CHP plants are normally large-scale facilities, situated close to coastal areas (Paper I). In 2018, the operators of the CHP plant KVV8, Stockholm Exergi AB, applied for an environmental permit to change the fuel mix from untreated wood fuels to coincineration with waste wood [68]. In fact, two thirds of the national increase in waste wood use between 2018 and 2023 was estimated to be co-incinerated with untreated wood fuels [69].

Available data of the end use of wood ash in Sweden indicated contamination of large amounts of forest fuel ash (**Paper I**). Around 20%, or 40 kt, of the estimated amount of forest-recyclable wood ash produced in 2017 was recycled. Figure 5 shows that the level of wood ash recycling has stayed the same. However, a problem identified in this context is the lack of published data regarding the fate of the ash from heating plants (**Paper I**). The two loops for waste wood and logging residues are schematically illustrated in Figure 7, based on the results in **Paper I**.



Figure 7. The principal material loops for waste wood and logging residues. Adapted from Paper I.

3.3 Opportunities and challenges for increasing recyclable ash from CHP plants

3.3.1 Technical and financial aspects

There are various reasons for designing a CHP plant to operate on a specific mixture of solid biofuels, as done at Örtofta CHP plant. One evident reason is to lower fuel prices, and one is to ensure the security of supply. CHP plant operators thus purchase fuel from various suppliers. For example, the possibility to increase the supply of waste wood in response to demand increases by CHP plant operators is limited, since the supply is dependent on the availability of discarded wood products [70]. The expected cost of the fuel and for the disposal of ash must also be considered and the best fuel mix is determined by a trade-off with the security of supply.

The share of waste wood used at the Örtofta plant has increased continuously since the start of operation due to the lower price compared to logging residues. However, besides the issues of supply security, some technical design parameters limit the possibility to substitute different wood fuels in an existing co-incineration plant. Two such design conditions are limits on the air pollutants in the flue gas, as stipulated in the environmental permit, and the permissible moisture content in the boiler. Too much dry fuel, like waste wood, can generate heat too quickly in just one part of the boiler, which can in worst case damage the boiler [71]. The fuel used affects the flue gas treatment and subsequently the content and properties of the ash. These choices are thus made early in the planning stage before the plant is built. This creates lock-in effects, making it difficult to make major changes in the operational chain of the plant to facilitate other fuel mixes at later stages in the plant's life cycle that do not involve significant investments.

On the other hand, it is technically possible to substitute waste wood in boiler designed to co-incineration with untreated wood fuel, since the equipment requirements are similar [72]. However, it is not financially motivated as waste wood is almost half the price per MWh generated compared to, e.g., logging residues [73]. The results of the analysis of the costs of wood fuel and ash disposal presented in **Paper I** indicate that there is no economic reason to remove the waste wood from the mix to avoid the cost of landfilling. The cost of landfilling is currently too low compared to the increase in cost of using only untreated wood fuels.

An operational strategy to produce more recyclable ash is "seasonal combustion", where the waste wood is used one part of the year, and untreated wood the other part. An obstacle to this strategy for producing more recyclable ash, is that contaminants can linger in the process and contaminate ash from untreated wood

fuels [74]. Further, the effect using different fuel streams can result in equipment failure [75].

Chemical and mechanical methods of ash treatment have reached different levels of development [76–81]. However, most methods are aimed at stabilisation and solidification as a step towards disposal by landfilling, rather than recycling [82,83]. Furthermore, ash treatment is expensive [84]. No treatment process has yet been suggested or developed with the aim of removing unwanted compounds, or extracting nutrients that could be used for recycling to forest soil. The increasing interest in secondary mining of valuable materials may lead to the development of better processes aimed at extracting forest nutrients in the future, but this is still mostly focused on recovering rare metals [85].

3.3.2 State of the policy environment

The work presented in **Paper I** showed that the practice of co-incinerating logging residues and waste wood has been overlooked in policies intended to promote a biobased and circular economy, and CHP plant operators thus have no financial or legal reasons to change their current practice regarding ash management. Relevant visions and action plans that could increase the amount of forest-recyclable ash from DH operators exists on different governmental levels, like the EU Circular economy action plan and EU Directive to divert waste from landfills, but no comprehensive political tool or measure. An intention to use more bio-nutrients in the EU has been presented [86], but this has not yet resulted in practical implications for DH operators.

This work presented in **Paper I** also uncovered a goal conflict, as producing more recyclable ash would add to the tariff of biobased DH, and the cost of removing logging residues in general, which could have negative effect of the EU goal of increasing renewable energy. This needs to be addressed by policy makers. In Swedish legislation on forest protection (*Skogsvårdslagen*) it is stipulated that the removal of tops and branches from the forest must be compensated for [51], which can include other products than wood ash. However, according to an administrator at the Swedish Forest Agency [54], the recommendations are difficult to enforce as the ash is produced by CHP plants. Thus, forest owners have no control over the availability of recyclable ash. One possibility could be to require the recycling of ash in the environmental permits of CHP plants using forest fuels. However, such a requirement should not jeopardize the important role of biobased CHP plants in delivering low-carbon-footprint heat and power.

3.4 Key insights

Based on the work presented in detail in Paper I, it was found that:

- The contamination of wood ash threatens recycling forest nutrients back to the forest, and thereby long-term forest production.
- Co-incineration waste wood with forest fuel is a favourable fuel strategy, due to fuel price and security of supply.
- If not co-incinerated, the ash from the forest fuels would have fulfilled the recommendations for ash recycling to the forest. Circular & biobased economy goals have overlooked the ash recycling impact of co-incineration.
- There are no economic, political or technical incentives to increase the amount of wood ash from CHP plants to forest soils.
- A comprehensive policy is needed for bioenergy use, which supports forest recycling of wood ash. However, the important role of biobased CHP for low-carbon DH and power should not be compromised.

4 From district heating to liquid biofuels

4.1 Making use of the decline in district heating demand

From the general resource and energy efficiency perspectives, a reduction in the demand for heat is desirable. However, this poses a challenge for CHP plant operators as the amount of electricity generated will also be reduced, since it is a by-product of heat production in Swedish CHP plants, leading to stranded assets [87]. The heating load on Swedish DH grids is expected to decrease in the future due to energy efficiency measures in buildings, climate change, and an increase in the installation of heat pumps [3,27]. A 20% decrease in the total heating demand has been predicted in Sweden by 2050 [23]. The profitability of wood-fuel-based CHP plants is reliant on DH sales and some plants must cease heat production during the summer months when the demand for residential heating is low (ibid.). The length of this down period depends on latitude and whether customers require heat beside space heating. The typical period of operation of a CHP plant supplying heat to a DH grid in Sweden is about 8 months per year [88]. This is also the case for the Örtofta CHP plant. The downtime is usually around 2500 h per year, including six weeks for revision.

In order to meet these changes, and to optimise investments in CHP plants and the associated infrastructure, operators are investigating new and innovative uses of heat. Kraftringen Energi AB has, for example, installed a new steam pipeline from the Örtofta CHP plant to the neighbouring sugar mill. However, this kind of exchange is only possible at CHP plants with heat-demanding industries in their vicinity. Therefore, a more interesting general strategy for the heating sector is to investigate how the CHP plant operators' own product portfolio can be expanded to include heat-demanding processes. The incorporation of a complementary heat-demanding process could offer a means of not only utilizing the overcapacity resulting from falling demand in the DH grid, but also extending the operating season of the CHP plant.

4.2 The need for low-carbon liquid biofuels

Although the heat and power sector in Sweden is largely decarbonised, the transport sector remains a challenge. Domestic transport accounts for almost a third of Sweden's total GHG emissions and is dominated by emissions from road traffic [89]. GHG emissions from domestic transport (Figure 8) decreased by about 21% between 1990 and 2021; the latest emission levels (2021) being about 15 Mt CO₂- eq per year.



Figure 8. GHG emissions from domestic transport between 1990 and 2021 [89].

The main reason for the decrease is the blending of biofuels in fossil fuels, followed by electrification and energy efficiency measures. All of these have been defined as key measures if we are to achieve the Swedish goal of climate neutrality by 2045 [90,91]. The Swedish Reduction Obligation (Reduktionsplikten) has been introduced to increase the production and market share of fuels from domestic, renewable sources, including biobased oil products [92]. Even so, the Swedish domestic transport sector is still largely dominated by fossil fuels, unlike the CHP sector. There is thus an urgent need to produce sustainable alternatives to fossil transportation fuels on a commercial scale, while maintaining the important energy system services provided by the CHP sector. The Swedish Parliament has set the goal of reducing GHG emissions from the Swedish transport sector by 70% by 2030, compared to the 2010 level. The demand for biofuels for transportation in the EU has been predicted to double in the coming decade, from the current value of 7% to 14% of the total transport fuel supply, corresponding to some 1700 PJ/y [26,93]. Until now, the demand for liquid biofuels (Hydrotreated vegetable oils (HVO), Fatty acid methyl esters (FAME), and ethanol) in Sweden has mainly been satisfied by imported oil products, although about 11% (7.9 PJ) of biofuel production was based on domestic feedstock in 2021 [94]. According to current Swedish reduction obligation levels, the demand for bio-jet fuels and HVO in 2030 is expected to be three times as high as the use in 2019 [94]. There is thus an urgent need of large quantities of sustainably produced liquid biofuels to replace fossil fuels.

4.3 A heat-demanding bio-oil process for CHP integration

The transformation of solid biofuels to liquid biofuels at a high energy yield is challenging. Several processes for the conversion of solid to liquid fuels (as either intermediates or end-use products) such as pyrolysis, the Fischer-Tropsch process, gasification and Heat-to-Liquid [95]. Regarding their industrial application, biobased CHP plants and kraft pulp mills have been shown to have the greatest potential for the integrated production of biofuel intermediates, and existing CHP plants with >1 PJ/y of biomass input could produce 42 PJ/y of pyrolysis oil, while CHP plants with >2 PJ/y of biomass could produce up to 15 PJ/y of Fischer-Tropsch crude (ibid.).

Pyrolysis is a chemical process in which lignocellulosic feedstock is converted into a range of smaller carbon compounds, and water, in the presence of heat in an oxygen-poor environment. The products form a char, a liquid, and a gaseous phase. The liquid phase is referred to as bio-oil or pyrolysis oil. Pyrolysis is a heatconsuming process and is thus suitable for integration in a CHP plant, where 60% of the energy content in the wood feedstock can be recovered as a liquid product [96,97].

Bio-oil could also be produced in a stand-alone facility. The advantage of this is that it is independent of the CHP plant operation. However, this has been shown to be less cost, environmental and energy efficient than integration with a CHP plant [18,88,98–100]. The higher energy efficiency is the result of the opportunity to recirculate the by-products from pyrolysis for use as a fuel in the boiler. Furthermore, excess heat from the pyrolysis process can also be recovered. The technical feasibility of producing bio-oil through the retroactive integration of a pyrolysis reactor at the Örtofta CHP plant was investigated, constituting the novel use of both the DH grid and the pyrolysis process as complementary heat sinks (**Paper II**). This would extend the operating season of the plant, increasing its utility and the production of electricity when the demand for DH was low. The resulting net energy yield, between the input of wood fuel and the combined output of heat, power and oil, was shown to be at least 80%. During the summer period when the DH grid could not be used as a heat sink, the yield instead declined to 63-70%.

4.3.1 From feedstock to end use

It is important to assess the energy use and material demand of the entire bio-oil production chain to enable fair and transparent comparisons of resource efficiency and environmental impact with products of equivalent function. In **Paper II** and **III**, sawdust and logging residues were used as pyrolysis feedstocks in two separate scenarios. The choice of feedstock was based on the regional supply potential and suitability for the pyrolysis yields [101].

Bio-oil can be used in stationary combustion facilities to replace fuels such as fossilbased heating oil and vegetable fuel oil fractions (such as mixed fatty acids, MFA), or in dual-fuel (gas/liquid fuel) turbines [102,103]. The feasibility of replacing the MFA used by Kraftringen Energi AB in their peak-load boilers was assessed in a scenario with a small pyrolysis reactor producing 216 or 252 TJ oil per year, using logging residues or sawdust, respectively (**Papers II** and **III**).

The work in **Paper II** and **III** also contained a scenario where the size of the pyrolysis production was maximised, based on the daily allowed number of wood fuel truck deliveries (stipulated in current environmental permit of the Ortofta CHP plant). This resulted in a potential bio-oil production of 2527 (using logging residues) or 2928 TJ (using sawdust) per year, for a potential scenario of selling the bio-oil as transportation fuel. However, untreated bio-oil is acidic, has high oxygen and water contents, and its long-term storage properties are uncertain. The oxygen content may be as high as 40% and must be removed. Distillation is also required for the final products to fulfil the fuel quality requirements for transportation fuels [104]. Hydrodeoxygenation (HDO) in an upgrading process to produce stable hydrocarbons in liquid and gaseous form and was used in Paper III. The HDO process uses hydrogen, a catalyst and heat, and produces water as a by-product. No commercial HDO facility exists yet but shows good potential for large-scale refinery implementation. A demonstration scale plant successfully produced gasoline, biojet and diesel from pyrolysis-produced bio-oil [105]. Development of an existing refinery process at the Preem Oil Refinery in Lysekil, Sweden, is planned with the aim to upgrade 50 kt pyrolysis oil per year, using hydrogen to remove oxygen, in collaboration with nearby sawmills [106,107].

4.4 LCA for decision-making of decarbonisation technology application

Biofuels are not completely carbon-neutral and can have different GHG footprints depending on various factors, such as the type of biomass feedstock, processing to obtain useful fuel, and transportation to the end user. There are LCA-based decisionmarking tools, with different scopes and aims, which can be used to determine the GHG emissions associated with liquid biofuels. The EU RED includes GHG emission caps for different types of biofuel: aviation fuel, biodiesel, bio-gasoline, biogas, etc., to promote the production of biofuels with low carbon footprints. Heat and electricity are also included in the latest (2nd) revision of the Directive. The Swedish Reduction Obligation is an implementation of the RED into Swedish law, where life-cycle-based criteria on GHG emissions reductions for fuel producers ensure the production of climate efficient fuels. The Alternative Generation Method is methods originally introduced to allocate GHG emissions between DH and power in CHP plants [108]. It is used by the energy company association in Sweden (*Swedenergy*) to monitor and publish the climate impact of Swedish DH grids [109]. The EU IF method is applicable to innovative projects that have the potential to avoid substantial amounts of GHG emissions from a reference scenario, typically business-as-usual, i.e. the emission if the innovative project was not developed.

Paper II presents a detailed LCA on the effects of integrating a pyrolysis reactor at Örtofta CHP plant, including feedstock, additives and transports. This knowledge is important for a CHP operator for deciding on the attractiveness of the potential business case where the bio-oil is sold to an upgrading facility. The climate impact was estimated using the RED methodology and the Alternative generation method. The results in **Paper II** showed that the bio-oil produced would be highly competitive with bio-oils from other processes, from a GHG emission perspective.

The launch of the EU IF in 2021 provides interesting opportunities for funding of innovative climate mitigating projects. The compliance of the studied value chain in **Paper II** with the LCA criteria in the IF is therefore interesting to evaluate for a CHP operator. However, the value chains required to follow the IF LCA methodology differ from those used in the study presented in **Paper II**. The emissions avoidance of a planned project is compared to a reference scenario, which can typically be business-as-usual emissions (i.e., the emissions should the innovative project not be developed). Thus, in **Paper III**, an LCA was performed of a project case in which the bio-oil produced in the study described in **Paper II** was upgraded to provide transportation fuel and substitute for fossil fuels. To provide contextualisation of the choice of parameters and emission factors in the EU IF LCA methodology, sensitivity analysis of the key parameters was performed. The results in **Paper III** showed that liquid biofuel production in CHP plants is a relevant technology for achieving decarbonisation in general, and particularly in the transport sector, in line with the EU IF policy goal.

4.5 Key insights

- Integrated pyrolysis with bio-oil production is technically possible at the Örtofta CHP plant. The existing capacity and infrastructure together with a retrofitted pyrolysis unit could provide an annual production of up to 2.8 PJ (LHV) crude bio-oil (**Paper II**).
- Two wood fuel types, sawdust and logging residues, were identified as feasible feedstock, due to their potential regional availability, and the foreseen future price stability in an anticipated growing forest biomass market (**Paper II**).
- Compared to 2.2 TWh domestic production of liquid biofuels, the Örtofta case could increase the production with 30% (**Paper II**).
- Integrating a pyrolysis reactor with the circulating fluidised bed act as a complementary heat sink to the DH grid and increased the annual boiler uptime of the plant from 5300 to 7752 h. The electricity delivery increased accordingly (**Paper II**).
- The opportunity to offset excess heat from pyrolysis in the DH grid increases the energy efficiency of the pyrolysis process compared to standalone operation (**Paper II**).
- The integrated pyrolysis reactor has no significant effects on the already low GHG emissions of the heat from the plant but remains below 1.6 g CO₂- eq/MJ (**Paper II**).
- Integration of pyrolysis would allow CHP operators to diversify their product portfolio and reduce GHG emissions. The Örtofta case study showed a reduction of up to 0.24 Mt CO₂-eq/y compared to the reference case (**Paper III**).
- The bio-oil can be used as transportation fuel to replace fossil fuels, thereby substantially reducing GHG emissions from the transport sector. An estimation showed potential of up to 10.3 Mt CO₂-eq/y in the transport sectors (**Paper III**).

5 Add-on technologies for GHG emission mitigation

5.1 The need for negative emissions

As mentioned in the Introduction chapter, negative emissions are becoming increasingly important if we are to achieve politically set climate goals, such as that in the Paris Agreement from 2015. The role of BECCS is substantial as a mitigation pathway, according to IPCC [21], underlining the important role of mitigating GHG emissions in countries using a high degree of bioenergy in heating plants. It should be noted that CDR does not include methods of avoiding fossil carbon use through substitution with biofuels. The IPCC AR6 report also mentions that substituted GHG emissions from using bioenergy in the heating plant will be of the same magnitude as mitigated GHG emissions using the CDR (ibid.). Thus, from the global perspective, installing biobased CHP plants with carbon capture could be a highly effective GHG mitigation technology, depending on the substituted heat and power sources. The IPCC report also stresses that there are differences in cobenefits, adverse side-effects and mitigation potential (among others) between methods of CDR, which must be considered in implementation strategies.

However, criticism has also been directed at against BECCS. For example, at largescale deployment, there is a risk that large areas of land would have to be used to grow biomass in order to capture and store carbon dioxide. This would lead to competition with land use for food production and may affect biodiversity conservation or land rights [111]. However, the risks could be the similar for largescale bioenergy deployment since the feedstock is the same. The risks of adverse effects of BECCS as a method of CDR in the IPCC AR6 technical report do not include the additional CO_2 from redirecting heat and electricity from other uses, or the risk of adverse effects on investments in liquid biofuel production that may arise from promoting CDR.

5.2 CCS in the CHP sector

The amount of research on the application of BECCS to CHP plants has been modest, considering its CDR potential [112]. Yet, Beiron et al [113], estimated the technical potential and associated costs of implementing amine-based CCS in the current biobased CHP plants in Sweden. The results indicated a potential to capture CO₂ from existing biobased and waste incineration plants is 19.3 Mt CO₂/year. However, the delivery of electricity and DH would decrease, depending on the CHP fuel and the heat recovered from the carbon capture process. In general, higher heating recovery rates result in the delivery of more DH and less electricity. Another impediment to the implementation of carbon capture at CHP plants is the high cost of such technology. CHP plants are smaller than other types of CO₂ point-emitting sources (e.g., pulp and paper mills), and are not always operated at full load [16]. Thus, the energy penalty of installing BECCS for individual CHP operators still need to be studied from an energy systems and life cycle perspective. In **Paper IV**, the potential effect on the energy outputs from carbon capture integration at Örtofta CHP was studied.

5.2.1 Emerging carbon capture technologies for the CHP sector

High-energy-consuming carbon capture technologies are not attractive to CHP plant operators as they result is loss of sales [75]. Amine scrubbing using Monoethanolamine (MEA) is a conventional technology used to capture CO₂, e.g., in natural gas and biogas cleaning, but the energy intensity of the process prevents it from being considered an ideal strategy for the large-scale reduction of GHG emissions. However, new carbon capture technologies are being developed, and pilot scale studies are taking place at different CHP plants around Sweden. For example, the energy company Stockholm Exergi AB has received €180 million from the EU IF to install a hot potassium carbonate (HPC) unit at their KVV8 plant [114,115]. The aim is to capture 0.8 Mt of biogenic CO₂ per year at the plant, starting in 2026. An innovative amine-based technology developed by Karlsson et al [116], is being tested in a pilot plant connected to the Sandvik CHP plant in Växjö, southern Sweden, operated by Växjö Energi AB. The amine absorbent is regenerated at a lower temperature than other technologies, and the results regarding the energy demand for the overall capture process are promising. Projects for CCS integration are being planned at other existing Swedish CHP plants including SYSAV in Malmö and Öresundskraft in Helsingborg. Operational starts are planned for 2030 and 2027, respectively [117,118]. Paper IV compares the energy outputs from both MEA and HPC capture technologies.

Besides different carbon capture technologies, the integration at the CHP plant can be done using different setups and configurations. For example, Gustavsson et al [119] used a case with the heat and electricity delivery as free parameters. In contrast, if a fix amount of heat should be delivered to the DH, the electricity production will be affected by a lower amount of steam left for the turbine, or electricity being used to run the process. In the Kraftringen Energi AB report that was used as basis for **Paper IV**, the heat output from the plant has been set as a fix parameter, to secure that the DH supply to the Kraftringen Energi AB customers would be unaffected.

5.2.2 Steering measures for BECCS

In the EU, BECCS is regarded as a relevant, complementary tool to other climate mitigation measures. In November 2022, the EU suggested a certification scheme for carbon removals [120], affirming that BECCS is on the European political agenda. In the technical report on which the suggested scheme is based, it is pointed out that CDR technologies, including BECCS, have the potential to affect societal objectives other than climate targets, having both adverse effects and co-benefits, which must be considered when finalizing the certification scheme [121].

There is political support for BECCS in Sweden as well. A Swedish public inquiry, the "Climate policy choices inquiry" (Klimatpolitiska vägvalsutredningen), has set a goal for the amount of CO₂ to be captured per year in 2045, which is the year Sweden aims to reach net zero GHG emissions. The ambition is to capture and store 2 Mt CO₂ and 3 to 10 tons per year in 2045 [122]. However, at present, there is currently no market for, or profitability, in BECCS. Rather, companies would incur a cost due to loss of production or increased energy use. As BECCS technology involves long investment cycles and it will take time to build the facilities and infrastructure that must be in place for Sweden to reach the goal of net zero emissions by 2045, government support will be required initially to stimulate development in BECCS [123]. Reversed auctions for negative GHG emissions have been proposed as a steering mechanism to create a market for CCS (ibid.). The first auction is intended to take place during 2023 [124]. The Swedish Energy Agency has proposed a national financial support scheme 'Industriklivet' to be used to create favourable market conditions for BECCS, and those receiving support holders will also be allowed to participate in the auction scheme (the sales being subtracted from the government support) [125].

5.3 GHG mitigation at CHP plants in the future energy system

5.3.1 Assessing BECCS from a life cycle perspective

Reliable knowledge concerning the prospective life-cycle climate impact is important to ensure effective decision making of policy makers when designing and evaluating steering measures for GHG emission mitigation [126]. Since carbon capture technologies are at the development stage, and the value chain comprises more processes than the actual capture process, it is important to assess the GHG emissions associated with BECCS from a life-cycle perspective. From the perspective of the CHP operator, installing carbon capture technology would involve a high long-term investment and a new business model, as well as new infrastructure and traffic flow to and from the plant. Before making decisions on major investments, it is important that information is available on the effects of integrating the carbon capture technology on the regular heat and power production. Consequences on the electricity and DH delivery of installing CCS at a CHP plant will influence the electricity and DH systems which it is connected to. In turn, the environmental impact of the CHP plant is altered, compared to business-as-usual.

In **Paper IV**, a prospective LCA was performed on a BECCS value chain at Örtofta CHP plant. The conceptualisation and modelling results from an internal study by Kraftringen Energi AB on installing carbon capture were used to assess the life cycle GHG emissions compared to a 2030 reference scenario. The investigated value chain included transportation of the compressed CO_2 from Örtofta CHP, using semi-trailer and ship [127], to Northern Lights injection fields for long-term storage.

5.3.2 Comparison of GHG mitigation by pyrolysis and BECCS

Little attention has been devoted to comparing life-cycle performance of implementing BECCS to other technology development options for CHP plants, such as biorefinery technologies. BECCS can be used to substantially mitigate GHG emissions from the energy system, in a similar way producing biofuels by pyrolysis can mitigate GHG emissions in the transport sector (**Paper III**), [113]. Both BECCS and pyrolysis are technically feasible and close to commercially ready and offer new opportunities to help achieve climate targets in other sectors. Installations in *existing* CHP plants are highly interesting in helping to reach climate goals in a time and resource efficient manner (**Paper III**), [95,128], but the energy they require will affect the energy output of the CHP plant. As mentioned, one of the greatest benefits of biobased CHP production is the low-carbon, energy-efficient delivery of heat and power, and should not be compromised by new infrastructure. Therefore, it is imperative to map out adverse effects and synergies between installing either

technology, since both are imminent investments that in worst case creates lock-in effects that hamper investments in the other. Therefore, **Paper IV** included a comparison of the life cycle GHG emissions of integrating a BECCS at Örtofta CHP to integrating pyrolysis and upgrading the bio-oil to transportation fuels. The LCA of the integration of pyrolysis in the value chain in **Paper III** was adapted to facilitate a comparison of the benefits with BECCS. To capture how the LCA results are influenced by the surrounding energy system, different levels of decarbonisation in the 2030 electricity market and transportation fuel market was assumed in the study.

5.3.3 Other CHP plant operator aspects to consider

In the strive to mitigate GHG emissions using biobased CHP plants, other aspects may need to be considered to ensure effective policymaking on implementing GHG mitigation strategies. The aspects mentioned below have emerged during the work with **Paper IV**, and further research on the consequences of them can be valuable.

As mentioned, the profitability of these two mitigation technologies is still uncertain, and both currently involve a loss of revenue in the form of reduced heat and electricity sales. However, grants for both types of projects have been awarded by the EU IF [115], which signals their potential for GHG mitigation, but also underlines their novelty and very high investment costs. The high investment cost could inhibit the willingness or capacity to invest in more than one carbon mitigating technology for the CHP plant. Since the market for negative emissions is under development, but the market for liquid biofuels is already in place, the investments pose different financial risks to an CHP operator, if an investment decision is to be made before profit for the captured CO_2 is established. Further, there are technology and policy instruments for biofuels today but not as developed for CCS (especially not for transport and storage).

CCS operation will also affect the logistical capacity of the plant, which in Örtoftas case could inhibit other climate mitigating technologies that require transportation to and from the plant. For example, CCS integration could risk a successful pyrolysis operation due to space and transport limitations, as pyrolysis would require a large amount of wood fuel trucks and transportation of the oil product from the plant (having bio-oil refinery infrastructure on site would require additional space).

The technological challenges to integrate different kind of carbon capture and pyrolysis differ, which can affect the willingness for the operator to invest. For example, both MEA carbon capture and pyrolysis would require invasive changes to the steam cycle and boiler. HPC technology does not require the same level of integration, as the process can be run on electricity produced outside the steam cycle.

5.4 Key insights

Based on the results in **Paper IV**, the following insights have been prompted:

- Both pyrolysis and BECCS have the potential for significant reductions in GHG emissions as a potential innovative development strategy for CHP plants.
- Integrating pyrolysis generate more electricity when the operational season becomes longer, whilst carbon capture reduces the amount. The energy demand may change with developing carbon capture technologies, such as that of Karlsson and Svensson [116].
- BECCS generate the highest GHG emissions mitigation from a life cycle perspective, around 200 kt CO₂/y. However, they are very much dependent on the development of the surrounding energy system for transportation fuels and other high-value hydrocarbon markets, as well as the electricity system. The results also depend on the scope considered for the emissions associated with those energy parameters, e.g., timeframe, marginal or average mix, and geography.
- Policies that support GHG emissions mitigation should support both pyrolysis and carbon capture technologies for biobased CHP. It is also important that policies take life cycle GHG mitigation potential and the dynamics of the energy system into consideration.
- BECCS is an important for decarbonising the energy system, but counterintuitively, the climate benefit is the highest in an already decarbonised electricity system. On the contrary, the climate benefit of producing liquid biofuels through pyrolysis is lower the more decarbonised the transport sector is.
- The next step is to analyse what strategy to choose as a CHP operator based on the results.

6 Conclusions and outlook

6.1 Conclusions and main contributions

The main contribution of the work presented in this thesis is that it has shown that there are sustainability-related issues of societal importance that interact greatly with the future role of existing wood-fuelled CHP plants. This work has elucidated the opportunities and challenges in CHP production concerning material circularity, changes in heat demand, liquid biofuel production, and carbon capture. A challenge in managing these issues is safe-guarding the role of the Swedish CHP system as a low-carbon, reliable, and dispatchable source of heat and power in the Swedish energy system.

Co-incineration of waste wood and forests fuels is a common practice in Sweden. However, the practice contaminates the ash, which prevents a circular material chain where the ash is used as compensation for logging residue out-take. Technical and economic aspects connected to wood fuel prices, boiler type and ash treatment hamper the willingness of CHP operator to produce more forest-recyclable ash. Further, there are currently no policies that discourage CHP operators from coincinerating waste wood and forest fuels. In fact, the goal of a circular biobased economy encourages CHP operators to increase their utilisation of waste wood as fuel. Addressing these overlooked challenges are key issues in the transition to a circular bioenergy system.

Integrating bio-oil production by pyrolysis into CHP plants provides a novel heat sink to increase plant uptime and helps CHP operators maximise the utility of plant infrastructure. This is attractive for CHP operators in the light of an expected decline in DH demand. The crude bio-oil would be attractive as a biofuel feedstock according to the EU RED criteria. By upgrading the bio-oil to substitute fossil fuels significant GHG emissions reductions can be achieved, in line with LCA criteria in the EU IF. The work in this thesis indicated that the annual GHG emissions reduction potential from pyrolysis integration in the Swedish CHP sector corresponds to 50–60% of Swedish 2019 transportation emissions. The work demonstrates an opportunity for CHP plant operators to help decarbonise a hard-to-abate sector.

Installing carbon capture technology in biobased CHP plants has potential for significant life cycle GHG emission reductions. However, the mitigation potential

of the studied technologies depends heavily on energy systems developments. This was also shown to be the case for pyrolysis integration. The reasons are an increased energy use and a dependency on decarbonisation levels in the transport and electricity sectors. Implementation strategies for GHG emission mitigation methods should consider emissions from a life cycle perspective. A key issue from the life cycle perspective is the decarbonisation development scenarios in the transport and electricity markets.

These opportunities and challenges will be important to address in policymaking and energy systems studies, to optimise the capacity of biobased CHP plants in, and towards, realising a biobased and circular economy.

6.2 Outlook and further research

When **Paper I** was published, there was considerable discussion on the sustainability of peat as a feedstock, but the use of logging residues for heat and power production on the EU level is now also being questioned. Excluding logging residues in the energy sector (at time of writing, a decision is underway) would reduce the security of fuel supply resulting from the use of a wide range of wood fuels. Leaving logging residues in place removes the need to recycle the ash. The CHP operator perspective on sustainable forestry and the impact on wood fuel production is a highly relevant area for further study, as the Swedish heating system is largely dependent on these types of fuel. Changes in the sustainability classifications of wood fuels, for example, in EU legislation, could have critical impact on heat producers' business plans, such as willingness to invest in new wood-fuelled plants. The field of sustainable forestry is complex, and includes, but is not limited to, issues of biodiversity loss, deforestation, soil carbon loss, and carbon cycles – areas that have not been addressed in this thesis but in of great importance to incorporate in research about sustainability of biobased CHP.

Sustainable material management at CHP plants is not restricted to the ash. Once the sustainability of fuels and ash has been assessed, the focus shifts towards other materials, such as additives used in the processes. To ensure sustainable CHP practice, other materials must also be assessed from a circularity perspective.

Efficient use of biomass will continue to be crucial in achieving sustainability in the energy system, and the transition towards a circular, biobased economy in general. The work presented in this thesis has added to the knowledge on the practical measures that can be taken to improve biomass resource efficiency. The future use of forest residues and waste wood must be continuously assessed as refinery technology is developed, and new policies are implemented. The effects of electrification must also be considered.

This thesis focused on a stakeholder in the decarbonised Swedish heating system. The outcome of this thesis highlights that there are relevant opportunities to strengthen the competitiveness of biobased CHP plants through prolonging the operational season and open to new markets, whilst adding to the potential of GHG emissions reduction. A large-scale roll-out of solid biobased CHP plants to substitute fossil-based heating and electricity delivery must also require large investments in new equipment and infrastructure. In regions and countries where a shift towards biobased CHP is a technical option but financially uncompetitive because of low heating demand (including short heating season), pyrolysis could be studied as an option from the planning start, to increase the competitiveness. Further studies into the area would add interesting knowledge about heating decarbonisation opportunities on a global level.

Traditionally, the greatest profit at Swedish CHP plants has been obtained from heat delivery. The steam cycle has therefore been configured to maximise heat delivery at the cost of electricity. This trend has been strengthened by Sweden's historically low electricity prices. As a result, many DH producers have only considered new investments in heat-only boilers, as the production of electricity did not create sufficient profit to warrant investments in turbines. The situation has changed drastically over the past two years. The effects of the war in Ukraine have had serious effects on the European heating and energy market, leading to unprecedented increases in the prices of electricity and gas, including in Sweden, as a part of the European electricity market. This, in turn, has led to the need to move away from electric and gas-based heating. In general, higher electricity prices create a market shift in the energy sector away from heat-only boilers to CHP. Long-term difficulties in the supply of natural gas to Europe may also promote the use of biogas or electrolysis to produce hydrogen for the upgrading of bio-oil. Another development is the increase in intermittent electricity production, predicted to trigger more volatile electricity prices in the future. Therefore, CHP operator strategies into future electricity delivery is also a highly relevant area to study.

Besides the more short-term effect of higher electricity prices, long-term heating development is also prompted in Europe. IEA has stated that "Russia's invasion of Ukraine and related risks to heating energy security and affordability are providing unprecedented momentum for a transition away from fossil fuel-based heating, particularly in Europe" [129]. This development calls for new knowledge on how the demands and opportunities in CHP business models are affected both short-term and long-term. It will also be important to study how the transition momentum could be harnessed in a way that ensures new heating infrastructure being aligned with societal goals of environmental sustainability, energy equity and security. This calls for knowledge on the ways in which the demands and opportunities in CHP business models are affected, in relation to the societal goals of environmental sustainability, energy equity and security.

References

- [1] REN21, Renewables 2022 Global Status Report, Paris, France, 2023.
- [2] Swedish Energy Agency, Ny statistik för el och fjärrvärme 2021, (2022). https://www.energimyndigheten.se/nyhetsarkiv/2022/nystatistik-for-el-och-fjarrvarme-2021/ (accessed January 27, 2023).
- [3] Swedish Energy Agency, Heltäckande bedömning av potentialen för uppvärmning och kylning. Underlag för rapportering enligt art. 14.1 i energieffektiviseringsdirektivet (2012/27/EU). ER 2020:34 (In Swedish), Eskilstuna, Sweden, 2020.
- [4] K. Ericsson, S. Werner, The introduction and expansion of biomass use in Swedish district heating systems, Biomass Bioenergy. 94 (2016) 57–65. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biombioe.2016.08.011.
- N. Bertelsen, B.V. Mathiesen, EU-28 Residential Heat Supply and Consumption: Historical Development and Status, Energies 2020, Vol. 13, Page 1894. 13 (2020) 1894. https://doi.org/10.3390/EN13081894.
- [6] Swedenergy, Fjärrvärmens minskade koldioxidutsläpp, (2022). https://www.energiforetagen.se/statistik/fjarrvarmestatistik/fjarrvarme ns-koldioxidutslapp/ (accessed February 14, 2023).
- Swedish Energy Agency, Energy in Sweden Facts and Figures 2022, (2023).
 https://www.energimyndigheten.se/48d14e/globalassets/statistik/ener gilaget/energy-in-sweden-facts-and-figures_2022.xlsx (accessed February 14, 2023).
- [8] Statistics Sweden, Årlig energistatistik (el, gas och fjärrvärme), Statistikdatabasen. (2023). https://www.statistikdatabasen.scb.se/pxweb/sv/ssd/START_EN_E N0105/ (accessed February 14, 2023).
- [9] Anders Haaker, Kjell Andersson, Malin Fredriksson, Sofie Samuelsson, 556 fjärrvärmenät på Biovärmekartan 2020 |

Bioenergitidningen, (2020). https://bioenergitidningen.se/556fjarrvarmenat-pa-biovarmekartan-2020/ (accessed January 27, 2023).

- [10] J. Beiron, J. Holm, F. Johnsson, T. Unger, J. Wolf, Teknik, systemintegration och kostnader för bio-CCS Rapport 2022:837, 2022.
- Swedish Energy Agency, Fortsatt hög elproduktion och elexport under 2021, (2022). https://www.energimyndigheten.se/nyhetsarkiv/2022/fortsatt-hogelproduktion-och-elexport-under-2021/ (accessed February 14, 2023).
- [12] The European Parliament and the Council of the European Union, Directive (EU) 2018/2002 of the European Parliament and of the Council-of 11 December 2018-amending Directive 2012/27/EU on energy efficiency, 2018.
- [13] Cogen Europe, What Is Cogeneration?, (n.d.). https://www.cogeneurope.eu/knowledge-centre/what-is-cogeneration (accessed February 24, 2023).
- [14] IRENA, Bioenergy from boreal forests: Swedish approach to sustainable wood use, Abu Dhabi, 2019.
- [15] H. Sköldberg, J. Beiron, M. Fridahl, J. Gode, C. Grubbström, M. Gustavsson, J. Holm, F. Johnsson, J. Kjärstad, L. Lundberg, E. Löfblad, K. Möllersten, T. Nehler, Å. Romson, J. Sahlin, M. Solis, L. Steen, M.-S. Svanberg, F.T. Unger, J. Wolf, L. Zetterberg, Bio-CCS i fjärrvärmesektorn - en syntes Rapport 2022:842, 2022.
- [16] A. Fagerström, D. Grahn, S. Lundberg, S. Ghosh, D. Creaser, L. Olsson, O. Abdelaziz, O. Wallberg, C. Hulteberg, S. Poulikidou, A. Lewrén, T. Rydberg, M. Martin, S. Anderson, J. Hansson, A. Hjort, Large scale bio electro jet fuel production integration at CHP-plant in Östersund, Sweden Nordic Initiative for Sustainable Aviation, the Power Region, and the Municipality of Östersund. Report number: B 2407., Stockholm, Sweden, 2021.
- [17] C. Gustavsson, Added value from biomass by broader utilization of fuels and CHP plants, PhD dissertation, Karlstad University, 2016.
- [18] A. Fagerström, O. Abdelaziz, S. Poulikidou, A. Lewrén, C. Hulteberg, O. Wallberg, T. Rydberg, Economic and Environmental Potential of Large-Scale Renewable Synthetic Jet Fuel Production through Integration into a Biomass CHP Plant in Sweden, Energies 2022, Vol. 15, Page 1114. 15 (2022) 1114. https://doi.org/10.3390/EN15031114.

- [19] M. Daraei, A. Avelin, E. Dotzauer, E. Thorin, Evaluation of biofuel production integrated with existing CHP plants and the impacts on production planning of the system – A case study, Appl Energy. 252 (2019) 113461. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apenergy.2019.113461.
- M. Pathak, R. Slade, P.R. Shukla, J. Skea, R. Pichs-Madruga, D. Ürge-Vorsatz, Technical Summary. In: Climate Change 2022: Mitigation of Climate Change. Contribution of Working Group III to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change [P.R. Shukla, J. Skea, R. Slade, A. Al Khourdajie, R. van Diemen, D. McCollum, M. Pathak, S. Some, P. Vyas, R. Fradera, M. Belkacemi, A. Hasija, G. Lisboa, S. Luz, J. Malley, (eds.), 2022. https://doi.org/10.1017/9781009157926.002.
- [21] Swedish Energy Agency, Vägen till ett 100 procent förnybart elsystem - Delrapport 1: Framtidens elsystem och Sveriges förutsättningar, Eskilstuna, 2018.
- [22] Swedish Energy Agency, 100 Procent Förnybar El Delrapport 2 Scenarier, vägval och utmaningar, Eskilstuna, 2019.
- [23] T. Unger, J. Holm, El och fjärrvärme samverkan mellan marknaderna, etapp iii, 2019.
- [24] European Commission (EC), Innovation Fund (InnovFund) Call for proposals Annex C: Methodology for calculation of GHG emission avoidance, 2020.
- [25] The European Parliament, The Council of the European Union, Directive (EU) 2018/2001 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 11 December 2018 on the promotion of the use of energy from renewable sources (recast), Strasbourg, 2018.
- [26] H. Sköldberg, T. Unger, A. Göransson, Potentialen för kraftvärme, fjärrvärme och fjärrkyla. Fjärrsyn Rapport 2013:15, 2013.
- [27] European Parliament, Texts adopted P9_TA(2022)0317 Renewable Energy Directive ***I, Strassbourg, 2022.
- [28] G. Egnell, H.Ö. Nohrstedt, J. Weslien, O. Westling, G. Öhrlander, Environmental impact description of forest fuel extraction, ash recycling and compensation fertilising (in Swedish)/Miljökonsekvensbeskrivning (MKB) av skogsbränsleuttag, asktillförsel och övrig näringskompensation, Jönköping, 1998.
- [29] Swedish Forest Agency, Recommendations for logging residue outtake after final felling and ash recycling (In Swedish)

/Rekommendationer vid uttag av avverkningsrester och askåterföring, Skogsstyrelsens förlag, Jönköping, 2008.

- [30] J. de Jong, C. Akselsson, G. Egnell, S. Löfgren, B.A. Olsson, Realizing the energy potential of forest biomass in Sweden – How much is environmentally sustainable?, For Ecol Manage. 383 (2017) 3–16. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2016.06.028.
- [31] European Parliament and Council, Directive 2008/98/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 19 November 2008 on waste and repealing certain directives (Waste framework, LexUriServ. Do. (2008) 3–30. https://doi.org/2008/98/EC.; 32008L0098.
- [32] European Commission, Regulation (EU) 2021/1119 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 30 June 2021 establishing the framework for achieving climate neutrality and amending Regulations (EC) No 401/2009 and (EU) 2018/1999 ('European Climate Law'),
- [33] European Commission, COM (2015) 614 final. Communication from the commission to the european parliament, the council, the european economic and social committee and the committee of the regions Closing the loop - An EU action plan for the Circular Economy, Brussels, 2015.
- [34] J.C. Refsgaard, J.P. van der Sluijs, A.L. Højberg, P.A. Vanrolleghem, Uncertainty in the environmental modelling process – A framework and guidance, Environmental Modelling & Software. 22 (2007) 1543–1556. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ENVSOFT.2007.02.004.
- [35] M.A.E. Van Sluisveld, 2°C through different lenses Evaluating longterm energy system change for a 2°C-constrained world, PBL Netherlands, Utrecht University, 2017.
- [36] S. Päivärinne, O. Hjelm, S. Gustafsson, Excess heat supply collaborations within the district heating sector: Drivers and barriers, Citation: Journal of Renewable and Sustainable Energy. 7 (2015) 666. https://doi.org/10.1063/1.4921759.
- [37] W. Kanda, S. Tomohiko, O. Hjelm, Components of business concepts for the diffusion of large scaled environmental technology systems, (n.d.). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2015.10.040.
- [38] A.R. Mazhar, S. Liu, A. Shukla, A state of art review on the district heating systems, Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews. 96 (2018) 420–439. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2018.08.005.

- [39] Kraftringen Energi AB, Örtoftaverket närproducerad el och fjärrvärme | Kraftringen, (2023). https://www.kraftringen.se/omkraftringen/om-oss/vara-anlaggningar/ortoftaverket/ (accessed March 9, 2023).
- [40] Swedenergy, Miljövärdering av fjärrvärme 2019 (In Swedish), (2020). https://www.energiforetagen.se/statistik/fjarrvarmestatistik/miljovard ering-av-fjarrvarme/.
- [41] F. Schneider, M. Giger, N. Harari, S. Moser, C. Oberlack, I. Providoli, L. Schmid, T. Tribaldos, A. Zimmermann, Transdisciplinary co-production of knowledge and sustainability transformations: Three generic mechanisms of impact generation, Environ Sci Policy. 102 (2019) 26–35. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ENVSCI.2019.08.017.
- [42] J. Jacobi, A. Llanque, S.M. Mukhovi, E. Birachi, P. von Groote, R. Eschen, I. Hilber-Schöb, D.I. Kiba, E. Frossard, C. Robledo-Abad, Transdisciplinary co-creation increases the utilization of knowledge from sustainable development research, Environ Sci Policy. 129 (2022) 107–115. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ENVSCI.2021.12.017.
- [43] R.K. Yin, Case study research : design and methods, 5. ed., SAGE, London, 2014.
- [44] D. Djurić Ilić, L. Ödlund (former Trygg), Integration of biofuel and DH production – Possibilities, potential and trade-off situations: A review, Fuel. 320 (2022) 123863. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FUEL.2022.123863.
- [45] A. Grunwald, Technology Assessment: Concepts and Methods, Elsevier B.V., 2009. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-444-51667-1.50044-6.
- [46] Armin Grunwald, Sustainability Assessment of Technologies An Integrative Approach, Sustainable Development - Energy, Engineering and Technologies - Manufacturing and Environment. (2012) 35–62.
- [47] P. Brassard, S. Godbout, L. Hamelin, Framework for consequential life cycle assessment of pyrolysis biorefineries: A case study for the conversion of primary forestry residues, Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews. 138 (2021) 110549. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2020.110549.

- [48] P. Börjesson, The potential of an increased supply of domestic biomass in a growing Swedish bio-economy – an update. Report No 121., Lund, 2021.
- [49] Swedish Forest Agency, Årlig avverkad mängd biomassa (bruttomängd), Skogliga Konsekvensanalyser 2022. (2023).
- [50] A. Drott, S. Andersson, H. Eriksson, Rules and recommendations for forest fuel out-take and compensational measures Report 2019/13 (in Swedish) /Regler och rekommendationer för skogsbränsleuttag och kompensationsåtgärder, 2006th ed., Swedish Forest Agency, Jönköping, 2019.
- [51] IEA Bioenergy, Task 32 Deliverable D7 Options for increased use of ash from biomass combustion and co-firing, 2018.
- [52] J., de Jong, C., Akselsson, H., Berglund, G., Egnell, K., Gerhardt, L., Lönnberg, B., Olsson, H. von Stedingk, IEA Bioenergy Task 43 Report 2014:01 Consequences of an increased extraction of forest biofuel in Sweden - A synthesis from the bioenergy feedstock research programme 2007-2011, supported by Swedish Energy Agency. Summary of the synthesis report., 2014.
- [53] S. Andersson, Swedish Forest Agency, Personal communication, (2022).
- [54] Official Statistics of Sweden, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Forest statistics 2022, Umeå, Sweden, 2022.
- [55] Morten Valestrand, Norsk kommun hotar svensk kraftvärme, Tidningen Energi. (2022). https://www.energi.se/artiklar/2022/november-2022/norsk-kommunhotar-svensk-kraftvarme/ (accessed March 8, 2023).
- [56] M. Edo, E. Björn, P.E. Persson, S. Jansson, Assessment of chemical and material contamination in waste wood fuels - A case study ranging over nine years, Waste Management. 49 (2016) 311–319. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wasman.2015.11.048.
- [57] J. Krook, A. Mårtensson, M. Eklund, Metal contamination in recovered waste wood used as energy source in Sweden, Resour Conserv Recycl. 41 (2004) 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0921-3449(03)00100-9.
- [58] W. Baxter, M. Aurisicchio, P. Childs, Contaminated Interaction: Another Barrier to Circular Material Flows, J Ind Ecol. 21 (2017) 507–516. https://doi.org/10.1111/jiec.12612.

- [59] European Commission (EC), Directive (EU) 2018/850 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 30 May 2018 amending Directive 1999/31/EC on the landfill of waste (L 150/100. 14.6.2018), Official Journal of the European Union. 63 (2018) 100–108.
- [60] European Commission (EC), Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament, the Council, the European Economic and Social Committee and the Committee of the Regions - The role of waste-to-energy in the circular economy, Brussels, 2017. https://doi.org/10.1002/bdd.453.
- [61] Joost van Stralen, Carolien Kraan, Ayla Uslu, Marc Londo, Hamid Mozaffarian, S2Biom Project Grant Agreement n°608622 Deliverable 7.3 Integrated assessment of biomass supply chains and conversion routes under different scenarios, 2016.
- [62] B. Strömberg, Synthesis of Värmeforsk's research programme "Environmentally correct utilisation of ashes 2009-2011" (in Swedish)/Synthesis of Värmeforsk's research programme "Environmenatlly correct utilisation of ashes 2009- 2011," Stockholm, 2012.
- [63] Swedish Energy Agency, Wood fuel- and peat prices per quarter (In Swedish) /Trädbränsle- och torvpriser, per kvartal exklusive skatt, från och med 1993, kronor/MWh fritt förbrukare, löpande priser, (2019).
 http://www.energimyndigheten.se/statistik/energiprisutveckling/?curr entTab=1 (accessed July 3, 2019).
- [64] E.C. Zabetta, V. Barišić, K. Peltola, A. Hotta, Foster Wheeler Experience with Biomass and Waste in CFBs, Varkaus, Finland, 2008. http://www.fwc.com/publications/tech_papers/files/TP_CFB_08_04.p df.
- [65] Swedish Energy Agency, Produktion av sönderdelade oförädlade primära skogsbränslen av inhemskt ursprung med fördelning på sortiment, GWh, 2013-. PxWeb, Statistikdatabas. (2022).
- [66] Swedenergy, Tillförd energi Energiföretagen Sverige, (2022). https://www.energiforetagen.se/statistik/fjarrvarmestatistik/tillfordenergi/ (accessed March 12, 2023).
- [67] Stockholm Exergi AB, Environmental permit application according to the Environmental Code Chapter 9, for changed operations at Värtaverket KVV8, City of Stockholm Appendix A - Technical

description (In Swedish) /Tillståndsprövning enligt 9 kap. Miljöbalken för ändrad verksamh, Stockholm, 2018.

- [68] Profu AB, Waste wood chips and high grade waste fuels (In Swedish) /Returträflis och utsorterade avfallsbränslen 2018, Mölndal, 2018.
- [69] R. Husgafvel, L. Linkosalmi, M. Hughes, J. Kanerva, O. Dahl, Forest sector circular economy development in Finland: A regional study on sustainability driven competitive advantage and an assessment of the potential for cascading recovered solid wood, J Clean Prod. 181 (2018) 483–497. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2017.12.176.
- [70] P. Ottosson, Kraftringen Energi AB, Personal communication, (2019).
- [71] O. Olsson, B. Hillring, Price relationships and market integration in the Swedish wood fuel market, Biomass Bioenergy. 57 (2013) 78–85. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biombioe.2013.01.026.
- [72] Swedish Energy Agency, Trädbränsle- och torvpriser, Statistikdatabas. (2023).
 https://pxexternal.energimyndigheten.se/pxweb/sv/Tr%C3%A4dbr% C3%A4nsle%20och%20torvpriser/ (accessed February 15, 2023).
- [73] H. Bjurström, K. Wikman, Utilisation of ash from the co-combustion of C&D wood with biofuels A series of experiments with a 24 MWth bubbling fluidised bed (In Swedish) /Askanvändning vid samförbränning av RT-flis med olika biobränslen – försöksprogram i en 24 MWth bubblande bädd, VÄRMEFORSK Service AB, 2005.
- [74] Separatförbränning av utvalda avfallsfraktioner för ökat resursutnyttjande av aska Separate combustion of selected waste streams to increase resource recovery from ashes ., 1 (2017).
- [75] R.C.E. Modolo, L.A.C. Tarelho, E.R. Teixeira, V.M. Ferreira, J.A. Labrincha, Treatment and use of bottom bed waste in biomass fluidized bed combustors, Fuel Processing Technology. 125 (2014) 170–181. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fuproc.2014.03.040.
- [76] M.J. Quina, E. Bontempi, A. Bogush, S. Schlumberger, G. Weibel, R. Braga, V. Funari, J. Hyks, E. Rasmussen, J. Lederer, Technologies for the management of MSW incineration ashes from gas cleaning: New perspectives on recovery of secondary raw materials and circular economy, Science of the Total Environment. 635 (2018) 526–542. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.04.150.

- [77] A. Pettersson, L.E. Åmand, B.M. Steenari, Leaching of ashes from co-combustion of sewage sludge and wood-Part II: The mobility of metals during phosphorus extraction, Biomass Bioenergy. 32 (2008) 236–244. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biombioe.2007.09.006.
- [78] I. Meer, R. Nazir, Removal techniques for heavy metals from fly ash, J Mater Cycles Waste Manag. 20 (2018) 703–722. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10163-017-0651-z.
- [79] A. Ferraro, I. Farina, M. Race, F. Colangelo, R. Cioffi, M. Fabbricino, Pre-treatments of MSWI fly-ashes: a comprehensive review to determine optimal conditions for their reuse and/or environmentally sustainable disposal, Rev Environ Sci Biotechnol. 18 (2019) 453–471. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11157-019-09504-1.
- [80] G.C.H.H. Doudart de la Grée, M.V.A.A. Florea, A. Keulen, H.J.H.H. Brouwers, Contaminated biomass fly ashes - Characterization and treatment optimization for reuse as building materials, Waste Management. 49 (2015) 96–109. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wasman.2015.12.023.
- [81] Z. Phua, A. Giannis, Z.-L. Dong, G. Lisak, W. Ng Jern, Characteristics of incineration ash for sustainable treatment and reutilization, Environmental Science and Pollution Research. (2019) 16974–16997.
- [82] L. Staffas, K. Karlfeldt Fedje, A. Pettersson, I. Johansson, Treatment and recycling of useful resources in fly ash from incineration of municipal solid waste (partly in Swedish) / Behandling och återvinning av outnyttjade resurser i flygaska från avfallsförbränning Rapport 2016:327, Energiforsk AB, Stockholm, 2016.
- [83] M. Becidan, Fly ash treatment technologies An overview of commercial and upcoming technologies for Norway and Scandinavia, SINTEF Energi AS, Trondheim, 2018.
- [84] Energiforsk AB, Description of the Ash research program -Environmentally correct utilisation of ashes (In Swedish)
 /Programbeskrivning Askprogrammet - Miljöriktig användning av energiaskor, Stockholm, 2017.
- [85] European Parliament, P8_TA-PROV(2017)0306 EU fertilising products - Regulation of the European Parliament and of the Council laying down rules on the making available on the market of CE marked fertilising products and amending Regulations (EC) No 1069/2009 and (EC) No 1107/2, Brussels, 2019.

- [86] H. Sköldberg, B. Rydén, Värmemarknaden i Sverige en samlad bild (In Swedish), 2014. www.varmemarknad.se (accessed June 30, 2021).
- [87] J. Zetterholm, E. Wetterlund, K. Pettersson, J. Lundgren, Evaluation of value chain configurations for fast pyrolysis of lignocellulosic biomass - Integration, feedstock, and product choice, Energy. 144 (2018) 564–575. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.energy.2017.12.027.
- [88] Swedish Environmental Protection Agency, Inrikes transporter, utsläpp av växthusgaser (In Swedish), Sveriges Officiella Statistik. (2022).
- [89] Boverket, Energimyndigheten, Trafikanalys, Trafikverket, Transportstyrelsen, Strategisk plan för omställning av transportsektorn till fossilfrihet (In Swedish) ER 2017:07, Eskilstuna, Sweden, 2017.
- [90] The Swedish Government, Regeringens proposition 2016/17:146 Ett klimatpolitiskt ramverk för Sverige (In Swedish), Stockholm, Sweden, 2016.
- [91] Swedish Energy Agency, Statens energimyndighets föreskrifter om reduktion av växthusgasutsläpp genom inblandning av biodrivmedel i bensin och dieselbränslen. STEMFS 2018:2, (2018) 4.
- [92] European Commission-Eurostat, Final energy consumption in road transport by type of fuel - Products Datasets, (2022). https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/web/products-datasets/-/ten00127 (accessed December 21, 2022).
- [93] Swedish Energy Agency, ER 2022 Drivmedel 2021 Resultat och analys av rapportering enligt regelverken för hållbarhetskriterier, reduktionsplikt och drivmedelslag, 2022. www.energimyndigheten.se.
- [94] K. Ericsson, Potential for the integrated production of biojet fuel in swedish plant infrastructures, Energies (Basel). 14 (2021) 6531. https://doi.org/10.3390/EN14206531/S1.
- [95] P.A. Meyer, L.J. Snowden-Swan, S.B. Jones, K.G. Rappé, D.S. Hartley, The effect of feedstock composition on fast pyrolysis and upgrading to transportation fuels: Techno-economic analysis and greenhouse gas life cycle analysis, Fuel. 259 (2020) 116218. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FUEL.2019.116218.
- [96] I.J. Tews, Y. Zhu, C. Drennan, D.C. Elliott, L.J. Snowden-Swan, K. Onarheim, Y. Solantausta, D. Beckman, Biomass Direct Liquefaction

Options. TechnoEconomic and Life Cycle Assessment, Richland, WA (United States), 2014. https://doi.org/10.2172/1184983.

- [97] J. Karvonen, J. Kunttu, T. Suominen, J. Kangas, P. Leskinen, Integrating fast pyrolysis reactor with combined heat and power plant improves environmental and energy ef fi ciency in bio-oil production, 183 (2018) 143–152. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2018.02.143.
- [98] T. Kohl, T.P. Laukkanen, M.P. Järvinen, Integration of biomass fast pyrolysis and precedent feedstock steam drying with a municipal combined heat and power plant, Biomass Bioenergy. 71 (2014). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biombioe.2014.09.014.
- [99] K. Onarheim, J. Lehto, Y. Solantausta, Technoeconomic Assessment of a Fast Pyrolysis Bio-oil Production Process Integrated to a Fluidized Bed Boiler, Energy and Fuels. 29 (2015) 5885–5893. https://doi.org/10.1021/ACS.ENERGYFUELS.5B01329.
- [100] P. Börjesson, Potential för ökad tillförsel av inhemsk biomassa i en växande svensk bioekonomi en uppdatering, (2021).
- [101] J. Lehto, A. Oasmaa, Y. Solantausta, M. Kytö, D. Chiaramonti, Review of fuel oil quality and combustion of fast pyrolysis bio-oils from lignocellulosic biomass, Appl Energy. 116 (2014). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apenergy.2013.11.040.
- J. Lehto, A. Oasmaa, Y. Solantausta, M. Kytö, D. Chiaramonti, Fuel oil quality and combustion of fast pyrolysis bio-oils, VTT Publications. (2013) 79. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apenergy.2013.11.040.
- [103] A. von Schenck, N. Berglin, PyRos Roadmap for realization of a value chain from forest to biofuels via bio-oil. Report 2018:550., Stockholm, Sweden, 2018.
- [104] S. van Dyk, M. Ebadian, J. Su, F. Larock, Y. Zhang, J. Monnier, H. Wang, D.M. Santosa, M. V Olarte, G. Neuenschwander, L.J. Rotness, D.C. Elliott, C. Drennan, O. Meijerinck Alexander Burns, C. Reid, M. Garcia Claro, I. Wolff, J. Saddler, O. Meijerinck, A. Burns, M. Lakeman, Assessment of likely Technology Maturation Pathways for biojet production from forest residues, Vancouver, 2019.
- [105] Preem, Synsat-anläggningen Så ställer Preem om till mer förnybart, (2023). https://www.preem.se/om-preem/hallbarhet/synsatprojektet/synsat-anlaggningen/ (accessed March 12, 2023).

- [106] Bioenergitidningen, Premiär för förnybar bensin på Preems raffinaderi i Lysekil, (2021). https://bioenergitidningen.se/premiarfornybar-bensin-pa-preems-raffinaderi-lysekil/ (accessed March 12, 2023).
- [107] T. Tereshchenko, N. Nord, Uncertainty of the allocation factors of heat and electricity production of combined cycle power plant, Appl Therm Eng. 76 (2015) 410–422. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.APPLTHERMALENG.2014.11.019.
- [108] Swedenergy, Miljövärdering 2022 guide för allokering i kraftvärmeverk och fjärrvärmens elanvändning, 2022.
- [109] European Commission (EC), Call Document: Innovation Fund (InnovFund) Call for proposals, (2020) 1–32.
- [110] IPCC, FAQ Chapter 4 Global Warming of 1.5 °C, (2022). https://www.ipcc.ch/sr15/faq/faq-chapter-4/ (accessed February 17, 2023).
- [111] F. Levihn, L. Linde, K. Gustafsson, E. Dahlen, Introducing BECCS through HPC to the research agenda: The case of combined heat and power in Stockholm, Energy Reports. 5 (2019) 1381–1389. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.EGYR.2019.09.018.
- [112] J. Beiron, F. Normann, F. Johnsson, A techno-economic assessment of CO2 capture in biomass and waste-fired combined heat and power plants – A Swedish case study, International Journal of Greenhouse Gas Control. 118 (2022) 103684. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.IJGGC.2022.103684.
- [113] J. Beiron, Combined heat and power plants in decarbonized energy systems Techno-economics of carbon capture and flexibility services at the plant, city and regional levels, Chalmers University of Technology, 2022.
- [114] Stockholm Exergi AB, Stockholm Exergis bio-CCS-projekt får 180 miljoner euro i EU-stöd, (2022). https://www.stockholmexergi.se/nyheter/stockholm-exergis-bio-ccsprojekt-far-180-miljoner-euro-i-eu-stod/ (accessed December 19, 2022).
- [115] European Commission, Innovation Fund-Key statistics from the first Call for Large-Scale Projects, 2022.
- [116] H.K. Karlsson, H. Makhool, M. Karlsson, H. Svensson, Chemical absorption of carbon dioxide in non-aqueous systems using the amine

2-amino-2-methyl-1-propanol in dimethyl sulfoxide and N-methyl-2pyrrolidone, Sep Purif Technol. 256 (2021) 117789. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.SEPPUR.2020.117789.

- [117] Öresundskraft, Öresundskraft satsar 70 miljoner kronor på koldioxidinfångning med CCS, (2023).
 https://www.oresundskraft.se/blogg/oresundskraft-satsar-70-miljonerkronor-pa-koldioxidinfangning-med-ccs/ (accessed March 11, 2023).
- [118] Sysav, Förstudie om CCS visar på två lovande tekniker för avskiljning av koldioxid, (2022). https://www.sysav.se/omoss/pressrum/pressmeddelande/forstudie-om-ccs-visar-pa-tvalovande-tekniker-for-avskiljning-av-koldioxid--3176860/ (accessed March 11, 2023).
- [119] K. Gustavsson, R. Sadegh-Vaziri, S. Grönkvist, F. Levihn, C. Sundberg, Erratum: BECCS with combined heat and power: assessing the energy penalty (International Journal of Greenhouse Gas Control (2021) 108, (S1750583620306733), (10.1016/j.ijggc.2020.103248)), International Journal of Greenhouse Gas Control. 110 (2021). https://doi.org/10.1016/J.IJGGC.2021.103434.
- [120] European Commission, Proposal for a Regulation of The European Parliament and of The Council establishing a Union certification framework for carbon removals 2022/0394 (COD), Brussels, 2022.
- [121] H. McDonald, N. Bey, L. Duin, A. Frelih-Larsen, L. Maya-Drysdale, R. Stewart, C. Pätz, M. Naae Hornsleth, C. Heller, P. Zakkour, Certification of Carbon Removals. Part 2: A review of carbon removal certification mechanisms and methodologies, (2021).
- [122] Klimatpolitiska vägvalsutredningen, Vägen till en klimatpositiv framtid, SOU 2020:4, (2020).
- [123] Swedish Energy Agency, Första, andra, tredje... Förslag på utformning av ett stödsystem för bio-CCS ER 2021:31, 2021.
- [124] Swedish Energy Agency, Omvänd auktion för bio-CCS senareläggs, (2023).
 https://www.energimyndigheten.se/nyhetsarkiv/2022/omvandauktion-for-bio-ccs-senarelaggs/ (accessed February 19, 2023).
- [125] Swedish Energy Agency, Energimyndigheten föreslår möjlighet att sälja negativa utsläpp som genereras med statligt stöd till bio-CCS, (2023). https://www.energimyndigheten.se/nyhetsarkiv/2023/energimyndighe

ten-foreslar-mojlighet-att-salja-negativa-utslapp-som-genereras-med-statligt-stod-till-bio-ccs/ (accessed February 19, 2023).

- [126] R. Arvidsson, A.M. Tillman, B.A. Sandén, M. Janssen, A. Nordelöf, D. Kushnir, S. Molander, Environmental Assessment of Emerging Technologies: Recommendations for Prospective LCA, J Ind Ecol. 22 (2018) 1286–1294. https://doi.org/10.1111/JIEC.12690.
- [127] M.W. Hay, Personal communication, Brevik Engineering AS, 2022.
- [128] IEA Bioenergy, Deployment of BECCS/U value chains Technological pathways, policy options and business models, IEA Bioenergy: Task 40, 2020.
- [129] IEA, Heating Fuels & Technologies IEA, (2022). https://www.iea.org/fuels-and-technologies/heating (accessed February 19, 2023).

Biobased Combined Heat and Power Production in Sweden



The heating demand in buildings make up one quarter of the global final energy demand and more than 85% is generated from fossil fuels. There is an imminent need to decarbonise space heating. To this end, learning from successful examples is important. Sweden is the country in Europe with the lowest emissions of greenhouse gases from heating. The installation of biobased combined heat and power plants, connected to district heating systems, has been a main driver. New opportunities

and challenges to the sustainability of this technology emerge in the transition to a biobased and circular economy. These include circular management of ash, opportunities to develop into biorefineries and produce liquid fuels, and capturing biogenic carbon dioxide, which are all assessed in this thesis. Understanding and disseminating how operators of biobased combined heat and power plants is affected by, and could manage, these sustainability issues will be essential for political steering towards a sustainable energy system whilst safeguarding the current important role in society.



Faculty of Engineering Department of Technology and Society ISBN 978-91-8039-604-2 ISRN LUTFD2/TFEM--23/1045--SE + (1- X) ISSN 1102-365

